

Home Search Collections Journals About Contact us My IOPscience

Precise limits from lepton flavour violating processes on the littlest Higgs model with T-parity

This article has been downloaded from IOPscience. Please scroll down to see the full text article.

JHEP01(2009)080

(http://iopscience.iop.org/1126-6708/2009/01/080)

The Table of Contents and more related content is available

Download details: IP Address: 80.92.225.132 The article was downloaded on 03/04/2010 at 11:34

Please note that terms and conditions apply.

PUBLISHED BY IOP PUBLISHING FOR SISSA

RECEIVED: November 27, 2008 REVISED: December 31, 2008 ACCEPTED: January 9, 2009 PUBLISHED: January 29, 2009

Precise limits from lepton flavour violating processes on the littlest Higgs model with T-parity

F. del Águila, J.I. Illana and M.D. Jenkins

CAFPE and Departamento de Física Teórica y del Cosmos, Universidad de Granada, E-18071 Granada, Spain E-mail: faguila@ugr.es, jillana@ugr.es, mjenk@ugr.es

ABSTRACT: We recalculate the leading one-loop contributions to $\mu \to e\gamma$ and $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$ in the Littlest Higgs model with T-parity, recovering previous results for the former. When all the Goldstone interactions are taken into account, the latter is also ultraviolet finite. The present experimental limits on these processes require a somewhat heavy effective scale ~ 2.5 TeV, or the flavour alignment of the Yukawa couplings of light and heavy leptons at the $\sim 10\%$ level, or the splitting of heavy lepton masses to a similar precision. Present limits on τ decays set no bounds on the corresponding parameters involving the τ lepton.

KEYWORDS: Higgs Physics, Rare Decays, Beyond Standard Model.



Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	The littlest Higgs model with T-parity	3
	2.1 The Lagrangian	3
	2.2 Flavour mixing	7
3.	New contributions to LFV processes	8
	3.1 $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$	11
	3.2 $\mu \rightarrow ee\bar{e}$	14
4.	Numerical results	19
5.	Conclusions	23
А.	Physical fields	25
в.	Feynman rules	27
	B.1 SM with massive neutrinos	27
	B.2 LHT model	28
с.	Loop integrals	29
	C.1 Two-point functions	30
	C.2 Three-point functions	31
	C.3 Four-point functions	32

1. Introduction

Little Higgs models [1] offer an explanation to the little hierarchy between the Higgs mass M_h assumed to be near the electroweak scale v = 246 GeV and the new physics (NP) scale f, whose natural value is expected to be ~ 1 TeV [2]. In contrast with supersymmetry, where the large one-loop Standard Model (SM) contributions to the Higgs mass are cancelled by the contributions from the corresponding supersymmetric partners with masses ~ 1 TeV and spins differing by $\pm 1/2$ (see [3] and references therein), Little Higgs (LH) models stabilize M_h by making the Higgs a pseudo-Goldstone boson of a broken global symmetry. The cancellation is in this case between particles with the same spin belonging to the same multiplets of this approximate symmetry. Which of these SM extensions, if any, is at work will be hopefully established at the LHC [4, 5].

Supersymmetry is linearly realized in the minimal supersymmetric SM (MSSM). This and other simple supersymmetric extensions of the SM have other interesting phenomenological properties, like, for instance, the unification of gauge couplings at very high scales [6], which is not the case for LH models. However, they have no built-in low energy mechanism to explain the observed fermion mass hierarchy or flavour conservation. As a matter of fact, it can be argued that supergravity is phenomenologically relevant [3, 7] because it can provide the necessary initial conditions to explain the precise fine-tuning required among the many new parameters of the MSSM, which otherwise would result in too large flavour changing processes [8]. This has been historically the problem of many SM extensions [9]. If the NP is near the TeV scale, it faces in general the problem of naturally explaining why it is *aligned* with the SM Yukawa interactions, as experimentally required. Although the SM can not explain the large hierarchy between fermion masses, which by the way is several orders of magnitude more demanding than the little hierarchy, it naturally accommodates the absence of flavour changing neutral currents (FCNC) [10]. LH models are not designed to solve the flavour puzzle either, and one must expect stringent constraints on the new parameters involving the heavy sector. The study of FCNC processes in Littlest Higgs models has been addressed in the literature [11]. In this paper we revise the calculation of the decay rates of the lepton flavour violating (LFV) processes $\mu \to e\gamma$ [12, 13] and $\mu \rightarrow ee\bar{e}$ [13] in the Littlest Higgs model with T-parity (LHT) [14], obtaining an ultraviolet finite result also for the latter.¹ Indeed, when all Goldstone boson interactions of the new leptons are taken into account, the one-loop contributions to the amplitudes are welldefined [16, 17], scaling approximately in the two family case like $(v^2/f^2) \sin 2\theta \delta$, where θ is a measure of the misalignment between the heavy and SM lepton Yukawa couplings and δ is the corresponding heavy lepton mass splitting. As a consequence, the present experimental limits require fine tuning the Yukawa couplings of the new heavy leptons up to 10%. aligning them with their SM counterparts, or making the heavy masses quasi-degenerate. One might also rise the NP scale degrading the motivation of the LH scenario itself. In the general case with three families the new contributions must be tuned to a similar precision but the parameter dependence is more involved. The calculation also applies to τ decays, but the corresponding limits are not restrictive at present. Moreover, it can be easily extended to μ – e conversion in nuclei [18]. A complete phenomenological analysis comparing as well different LH models will be presented elsewhere.

In LH models the Higgs is a pseudo-Goldstone boson. Thus, M_h is naturally small as long as the new scale f is relatively low, because one expects that cancellations are only protected to one loop and for the dominant contributions. Hence, $4\pi f$ can not be much larger than 10 TeV if we do not wish to invoke some fine tuning again. However, as the model introduces heavy particles the new one-loop contributions to electroweak observables may require rising f significantly above 1 TeV in the absence of model dependent cancellations, in order to be consistent with present electroweak precision data (EWPD) [19]. The LHT is an economical realization of the LH scenario with the further virtue of keeping the new

¹See also [15] which appeared when we were preparing this manuscript. There the cancellation of ultraviolet divergences in the LHT model is also shown, flavour violation in the quark sector is explored and the phenomenology of $K \to \pi \nu \bar{\nu}$ is analyzed.

contributions to EWPD small. It incorporates a discrete symmetry under which the new particles are odd and the SM ones even. Then all vertices must have an even number of new particles, if any. Similarly to the R symmetry in supersymmetric models, the T symmetry allows us to weaken the experimental limit on the LH effective scale below the TeV [20]. This symmetry also makes stable the lightest T-odd particle, offering, like R-parity does in the supersymmetric case, an alternative candidate for cold dark matter [21].

Nevertheless, as already emphasized these models are not a priori designed to deal with the flavour problem. Therefore, it is important to investigate the constraints on the model parameters implied by the stringent experimental limits on FCNC. We follow an operational approach and calculate the leading contributions to $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$ and $\mu \rightarrow ee\bar{e}$ in the LHT, recovering previous results for the former [12, 13] but an ultraviolet finite result for the latter. We focus on these processes because the lepton sector is free from large strong corrections, and the experimental limits are quite demanding. In section 2 we review the LHT model to introduce the notation and the Feynman rules needed. The one-loop amplitudes of the LFV processes $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$ and $\mu \rightarrow ee\bar{e}$ are discussed in section 3. The calculation is straightforward but cumbersome, requiring a careful bookkeeping of the different terms. In section 4 we present the numerical results discussing the dependence on the different parameters of the model. Finally, section 5 is devoted to conclusions, where we also briefly comment on τ decays.

2. The littlest Higgs model with T-parity

2.1 The Lagrangian

The LHT is a non-linear σ model based on the coset space SU(5)/SO(5), with the SU(5) global symmetry broken by the vacuum expectation value (VEV) of a 5 × 5 symmetric tensor,

$$\Sigma_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}_{2\times 2} \ 0 \ \mathbf{1}_{2\times 2} \\ 0 \ 1 \ 0 \\ \mathbf{1}_{2\times 2} \ 0 \ \mathbf{0}_{2\times 2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.1)

The 10 unbroken generators T^a , which leave invariant Σ_0 and then satisfy $T^a \Sigma_0 + \Sigma_0 (T^a)^T = 0$, expand the SO(5) algebra; whereas the 14 broken generators X^a , which fulfill $X^a \Sigma_0 - \Sigma_0 (X^a)^T = 0$, expand the Goldstone fields $\Pi = \pi^a X^a$ parameterized as

$$\Sigma(x) = e^{i\Pi/f} \Sigma_0 e^{i\Pi^T/f} = e^{2i\Pi/f} \Sigma_0, \qquad (2.2)$$

where f is the effective NP scale. Only the $[SU(2) \times U(1)]_1 \times [SU(2) \times U(1)]_2$ subgroup of the SU(5) global symmetry is gauged. It is generated by

$$Q_1^a = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^a & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \mathbf{0}_{2 \times 2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \qquad Y_1 = \frac{1}{10} \text{diag}(3, 3, -2, -2, -2), \qquad (2.3)$$

$$Q_2^a = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}_{2\times 2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -\sigma^{a*} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Y_2 = \frac{1}{10} \text{diag}(2, 2, 2, -3, -3), \qquad (2.4)$$

with σ^a the three Pauli matrices. The VEV in eq. (2.1) breaks this gauge group down to the SM gauge group $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{U}(1)_Y$, generated by the combinations $\{Q_1^a + Q_2^a, Y_1 + Y_2\} \subset \{T^a\}$. The orthogonal combinations are a subset of the broken generators, $\{Q_1^a - Q_2^a, Y_1 - Y_2\} \subset \{X^a\}$. Thus, the Goldstone fields

$$\Pi = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{\omega^{0}}{2} - \frac{\eta}{\sqrt{20}} & -\frac{\omega^{+}}{\sqrt{2}} & -i\frac{\pi^{+}}{\sqrt{2}} & -i\Phi^{++} & -i\frac{\Phi^{+}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ -\frac{\omega^{-}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{\omega^{0}}{2} - \frac{\eta}{\sqrt{20}} & \frac{v+h+i\pi^{0}}{2} & -i\frac{\Phi^{+}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{-i\Phi^{0}+\Phi^{P}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ i\frac{\pi^{-}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{v+h-i\pi^{0}}{2} & \sqrt{\frac{4}{5}\eta} & -i\frac{\pi^{+}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{v+h+i\pi^{0}}{2} \\ i\Phi^{--} & i\frac{\Phi^{-}}{\sqrt{2}} & i\frac{\pi^{-}}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{\omega^{0}}{2} - \frac{\eta}{\sqrt{20}} & -\frac{\omega^{-}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ i\frac{\Phi^{-}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{i\Phi^{0}+\Phi^{P}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{v+h-i\pi^{0}}{2} & -\frac{\omega^{+}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{\omega^{0}}{2} - \frac{\eta}{\sqrt{20}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.5)

decompose into the SM Higgs doublet $(-i\pi^+/\sqrt{2}, (v+h+i\pi^0)/2)^T$, a complex $SU(2)_L$ triplet Φ , and the longitudinal modes of the heavy gauge fields ω^{\pm}, ω^0 and η .²

As emphasized in the previous section, we can make the new contributions to electroweak precision observables small enough introducing a T-parity under which the SM particles are even and the new particles are odd. An obvious choice for the action of such T-parity on the gauge fields G_i is the exchange of the gauge subgroups $[SU(2) \times U(1)]_1$ and $[SU(2) \times U(1)]_2$,

$$G_1 \stackrel{\mathrm{T}}{\longleftrightarrow} G_2.$$
 (2.6)

Then, T invariance requires that the gauge couplings associated to both factors are equal. This leaves the following gauge Lagrangian unchanged,

$$\mathcal{L}_G = \sum_{j=1}^2 \left[-\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\widetilde{W}_{j\mu\nu} \widetilde{W}_j^{\mu\nu} \right) - \frac{1}{4} B_{j\mu\nu} B_j^{\mu\nu} \right], \qquad (2.7)$$

where

$$\widetilde{W}_{j\mu} = W^a_{j\mu}Q^a_j, \quad \widetilde{W}_{j\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\widetilde{W}_{j\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\widetilde{W}_{j\mu} - \mathrm{i}g\left[\widetilde{W}_{j\mu},\widetilde{W}_{j\nu}\right], \quad B_{j\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}B_{j\nu} - \partial_{\nu}B_{j\mu}.$$
(2.8)

(Summation over index a, which runs on the corresponding SU(2) generators, is always assumed when repeated.) The T-even combinations multiplying the unbroken gauge generators correspond to the SM gauge bosons,

$$W^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} [(W_1^1 + W_2^1) \mp i(W_1^2 + W_2^2)], \quad W^3 = \frac{W_1^3 + W_2^3}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad B = \frac{B_1 + B_2}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad (2.9)$$

whereas the T-odd combinations

$$W_{H}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} [(W_{1}^{1} - W_{2}^{1}) \mp i(W_{1}^{2} - W_{2}^{2})], \quad W_{H}^{3} = \frac{W_{1}^{3} - W_{2}^{3}}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad B_{H} = \frac{B_{1} - B_{2}}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad (2.10)$$

²In the following we use for the SM fields and couplings the conventions in ref. [22]. In particular, $\phi^+ = -i\pi^+, \phi^0 = \pi^0$.

expand the heavy gauge sector.

In order to ensure that the SM Higgs doublet is T-even and the remaining Goldstone fields are T-odd, the T action on the scalar fields is defined as follows,

$$\Pi \xrightarrow{T} -\Omega \Pi \Omega, \quad \Omega = \operatorname{diag}(-1, -1, 1, -1, -1), \tag{2.11}$$

where Ω is an element of the center of the gauge group,³ which commutes with Σ_0 but not with the full global symmetry. Then,

$$\Sigma \xrightarrow{\mathrm{T}} \widetilde{\Sigma} = \Omega \Sigma_0 \Sigma^{\dagger} \Sigma_0 \Omega, \qquad (2.12)$$

and the scalar Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_S = \frac{f^2}{8} \operatorname{Tr} \left[(D_\mu \Sigma)^{\dagger} (D^\mu \Sigma) \right], \qquad (2.13)$$

with

$$D_{\mu}\Sigma = \partial_{\mu}\Sigma - \sqrt{2}\mathrm{i}\sum_{j=1}^{2} \left[gW^{a}_{j\mu}(Q^{a}_{j}\Sigma + \Sigma Q^{aT}_{j}) - g'B_{j\mu}(Y_{j}\Sigma + \Sigma Y^{T}_{j})\right], \qquad (2.14)$$

is also gauge and T-invariant.

This discrete symmetry must be implemented in the fermion sector too. This is less straightforward. In fact, there is no proposed model fulfilling the three desired conditions: to give masses to all (SM) fermions with Yukawa couplings, preserving a discrete symmetry under which all new particles are odd and the SM ones even, and keeping the full global symmetry before introducing the symmetry breaking. Although terms explicitly breaking the global symmetries at the Lagrangian level must manifest as *badly* behaved contributions to physical processes [17], this will not be our case since all the explicit couplings entering in the calculation we are interested in can be derived from Lagrangian terms which are symmetric. Following refs. [23, 24] we introduce two left-handed fermion doublets in incomplete SU(5) multiplets, one transforming just under SU(2)₁ and the other under SU(2)₂, for each SM left-handed lepton doublet:

$$\Psi_1 = \begin{pmatrix} -\mathrm{i}\sigma^2 l_{1L} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Psi_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ -\mathrm{i}\sigma^2 l_{2L} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.15)$$

where $l_{iL} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{iL} \\ \ell_{iL} \end{pmatrix}$, i = 1, 2, and $\Psi_1 \longrightarrow V^* \Psi_1, \quad \Psi_2 \longrightarrow V \Psi_2,$ (2.16)

under an SU(5) transformation V. We define the T-parity action on these fermions

$$\Psi_1 \stackrel{\mathrm{T}}{\longleftrightarrow} \Omega \Sigma_0 \Psi_2. \tag{2.17}$$

³Note that we have reversed the sign of Ω as compared to the literature, to make it a group element.

Then the usual T-even combination $\Psi_1 + \Omega \Sigma_0 \Psi_2$ remains light and is identified, up to the proper normalization, with the SM fermion doublet. The T-odd combination $\Psi_1 - \Omega \Sigma_0 \Psi_2$ pairs with a right-handed doublet (eigenvector of T), in a complete SO(5) multiplet,

$$\Psi_R = \begin{pmatrix} \cdot \\ \cdot \\ -i\sigma^2 l_{HR} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Psi_R \xrightarrow{T} \Omega \Psi_R, \quad \Psi_R \longrightarrow U \Psi_R, \quad (2.18)$$

where U is an SO(5) transformation defined below, to form a heavy Dirac doublet. With this aim in mind, a non-linear Yukawa Lagrangian is introduced,

$$\mathcal{L}_{Y_H} = -\kappa f \left(\overline{\Psi}_2 \xi + \overline{\Psi}_1 \Sigma_0 \xi^{\dagger} \right) \Psi_R + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (2.19)$$

where $\xi = e^{i\Pi/f}$. This is indeed T-invariant, since eq. (2.11) implies

$$\xi \xrightarrow{\mathrm{T}} \Omega \xi^{\dagger} \Omega, \qquad (2.20)$$

and invariant under global transformations,

$$\Sigma = \xi^2 \Sigma_0 \longrightarrow V \Sigma V^T \quad \Rightarrow \quad \xi \longrightarrow V \xi U^{\dagger} \equiv U \xi \Sigma_0 V^T \Sigma_0, \tag{2.21}$$

where V is the global SU(5) tranformation and U a function of V and II taking values in the Lie algebra of the unbroken SO(5). It must be noted that the gauge singlet χ_R , completing the SO(5) representation

$$\Psi_R = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\psi}_R \\ \chi_R \\ -i\sigma^2 l_{HR} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.22)

and assumed to be heavy, is T-even.⁴ On the other hand, the extra doublet $\tilde{\psi}_R$, which is also assumed to be heavy enough to agree with EWPD, is T-odd as desired.

We have just introduced all heavy fields we need. However, one important comment is in order. The Yukawa-type Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_{Y_H} fixes the transformation properties of the heavy fermions and then their gauge couplings, in particular the non-linear couplings of the right-handed heavy fermions [25],

$$\mathcal{L}_{F} = i\overline{\Psi}_{1}\gamma^{\mu}D_{\mu}^{*}\Psi_{1} + i\overline{\Psi}_{2}\gamma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\Psi_{2} +i\overline{\Psi}_{R}\gamma^{\mu}\left(\partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\xi^{\dagger}(D_{\mu}\xi) + \frac{1}{2}\xi(\Sigma_{0}D_{\mu}^{*}\Sigma_{0}\xi^{\dagger})\right)\Psi_{R}$$
(2.23)

with

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - \sqrt{2} i g (W_{1\mu}^{a} Q_{1}^{a} + W_{2\mu}^{a} Q_{2}^{a}) + \sqrt{2} i g' (Y_{1} B_{1\mu} + Y_{2} B_{2\mu}).$$
(2.24)

⁴If we had defined the T action on the fermions $\Psi_1 \stackrel{T}{\longleftrightarrow} -\Sigma_0 \Psi_2$, $\Psi_R \stackrel{T}{\longrightarrow} -\Psi_R$ and the Yukawa Lagrangian with Ω 's, $\mathcal{L}_{Y_H} = -\kappa f \left(\overline{\Psi}_2 \xi + \overline{\Psi}_1 \Sigma_0 \Omega \xi^{\dagger} \Omega \right) \Psi_R$ + h.c., all new fermions would be T-odd and the new Lagrangian invariant under the new T-parity [24], but not under the full global symmetry because Ω does not commute with SU(5) neither with SO(5), although it does commute with the gauge group. We must insist that the explicit couplings entering in our calculation are the same in both cases.

The Lagrangian of eq. (2.23) includes the proper $O(v^2/f^2)$ couplings to Goldstone fields, absent in [13, 26], that render the one-loop amplitudes ultraviolet finite. Besides, in order to assign the proper SM hypercharge y = -1 to the charged right-handed leptons ℓ_R , which are SU(5) singlets and T-even, one can enlarge SU(5) with two extra U(1) groups, since otherwise their hypercharge would be zero. Then, the corresponding gauge and T invariant Lagrangian reads

$$\mathcal{L}'_F = \mathrm{i}\bar{\ell}_R \gamma^\mu (\partial_\mu + \mathrm{i}g' y B_\mu) \ell_R. \tag{2.25}$$

For the lepton sector and the calculation we are interested in these are all the necessary Lagrangian terms. However, in order to define what a muon or an electron is, we have to diagonalise the mass matrix $(M_\ell)_{ij} = (\lambda_\ell)_{ij} v$ in the corresponding Yukawa Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_Y which we assume to have all required properties [25, 27]⁵ (and also to include light neutrino masses). This gives to leading order a mass term for the charged leptons $m_{\ell i} \bar{\ell}_L^i \ell_R^i + \text{h.c.}$, with

$$m_{\ell_{i'}}\delta_{i'j'} = (V_L^{\ell^{\dagger}})_{i'i}(\lambda_\ell)_{ij}(V_R^{\ell})_{jj'} v$$
(2.26)

and $V_{L,R}^{\ell}$ two unitary matrices.⁶

Finally, in order to perform the calculation in the mass eigenstate basis we have to diagonalise the full Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_G + \mathcal{L}_S + \mathcal{L}_{Y_H} + \mathcal{L}_F + \mathcal{L}'_F + \mathcal{L}_Y, \qquad (2.27)$$

and reexpress it in the mass eigenstate basis. The corresponding masses and eigenvectors up to order v^2/f^2 are given in appendix A. The Feynman rules are collected in appendix B. They are obtained expanding \mathcal{L} to the required order. The coupling overlooked in [13] is the v^2/f^2 correction to the right-handed coupling g_R of the $Z\bar{\nu}_H^i\nu_H^j$ vertex, resulting from the expansion of the last two terms of \mathcal{L}_F in eq. (2.23).

2.2 Flavour mixing

The new contributions to charged LFV processes must be proportional to the ratio of the electroweak and the LHT breaking scales v^2/f^2 and to a combination of the matrix

⁵Right-handed leptons, as the other right-handed SM fermions, are usually taken to be singlets under the non-abelian symmetries, transforming only under the gauge abelian subgroup. We must note that this may be a too strong assumption. If we want to couple them to their left-handed counterpart, one may be inspired by the following observation. There is only one SU(5) singlet in the decomposition of the product of two Σ 's and one left-handed fermion multiplet, $\sum_{\alpha_i=1}^5 \epsilon^{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 \alpha_4 \alpha_5} [(\Sigma)_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2} (\Sigma)_{\alpha_3 \alpha_4} \Psi_{2\alpha_5} +$ $(\Sigma^{\dagger})_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2} (\Sigma^{\dagger})_{\alpha_3 \alpha_4} \Psi_{1\alpha_5}]$, where $\epsilon^{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 \alpha_4 \alpha_5}$ is the totally antisymmetric tensor and the second term is the T transformed of the first one. Alternatively, one could multiply three Σ 's and the other left-handed fermion multiplet, $\sum_{\alpha_i=1}^5 \epsilon^{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 \alpha_4 \alpha_5} \delta^{\alpha_6 \alpha_7} [(\Sigma)_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2} (\Sigma)_{\alpha_3 \alpha_4} (\Sigma)_{\alpha_5 \alpha_6} \Psi_{1\alpha_7} + (\Sigma^{\dagger})_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2} (\Sigma^{\dagger})_{\alpha_3 \alpha_4} (\Sigma^{\dagger})_{\alpha_5 \alpha_6} \Psi_{2\alpha_7}]$, with $\delta^{\alpha_6 \alpha_7}$ the Kronecker delta. In both cases, we get the wrong Higgs coupling. This is so because this product is an SU(5) singlet and then the Higgs coupling reads $i\pi^+l^- + (v + h + i\pi^0)\nu/\sqrt{2}$. (In these expressions there are neither Ω 's nor Σ_0 's because the determinant of Ω is 1 and $\epsilon^{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 \alpha_4 \alpha_5} (\Sigma_0)_{\alpha_1 \beta_1} (\Sigma_0)_{\alpha_2 \beta_2} (\Sigma_0)_{\alpha_3 \beta_3} (\Sigma_0)_{\alpha_4 \beta_4} (\Sigma_0)_{\alpha_5 \beta_5} = \epsilon^{\beta_1 \beta_2 \beta_3 \beta_4 \beta_5}$.) Then, getting the correct coupling $(v + h - i\pi^0)l^-/\sqrt{2} + i\pi^-\nu$ requires the explicit breaking of SU(5). If ξ is introduced in the game, one eventually has to break SO(5) as well.

 $^{^{6}}$ We denote the mass eigenstates with primes when necessary to distinguish them from the current eigenstates.

elements describing the misalignment of the heavy and charged lepton Yukawa couplings. Let us then set our conventions for the description of the heavy-light mixing relevant to our analysis, and in particular to the Feynman rules discussed above and collected in appendix B. The SM interaction and mass eigenstates are related by the unitary matrices in eq. (2.26),

$$\ell_L = V_L^\ell \ell_L', \quad \ell_R = V_R^\ell \ell_R'. \tag{2.28}$$

Then the SM charged current Lagrangian reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{CC}^{SM} = -\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \overline{\nu}_L W^{\dagger} \ell_L + \text{h.c.} = -\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \overline{\nu}'_L V_L^{\nu \dagger} V_L^{\ell} W^{\dagger} \ell'_L + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (2.29)$$

where we have also introduced the corresponding rotation for the neutrinos. Thus, only the combination $V_{\rm PMNS}^{\dagger} = V_L^{\nu \dagger} V_L^{\ell}$ is observable. It must be noted, however, that the neutrino contributions to LFV processes are negligible in the SM because so are their masses. Hence, V_L^{ν} can be assumed to be unity. Similarly we can also diagonalise the heavy Yukawa couplings in eq. (2.19),

$$m_{l_H^{i'}} \delta_{i'j'} = (V_L^{H\dagger})_{i'i} \kappa_{ij} (V_R^H)_{jj'} \sqrt{2}f, \qquad (2.30)$$

where V_L^H acts on the left-handed fields and V_R^H acts on the right-handed fields. Note that there is no distinction between up- and down-type leptons. The T-odd gauge boson interactions arising from the corresponding kinetic terms for left-handed leptons in eq. (2.23) are proportional to

$$\bar{l}_{L-} \mathcal{G}_{-} l_{L+} + \text{h.c.} = \bar{l}_{HL} V_L^{H\dagger} \mathcal{G}_H \begin{pmatrix} V_L^{\nu} \nu_L \\ V_L^{\ell} \ell_L \end{pmatrix} + \text{h.c.}$$
(2.31)

where G_{-} and l_{L-} are the heavy, T-odd gauge bosons and fermions and l_{L+} are the SM, T-even fermions in the interaction basis, whereas $G_{H} = A_{H}, Z_{H}, W_{H}; l_{H} = (\nu_{H}, \ell_{H})^{T};$ and ν_{L} and ℓ_{L} are the corresponding mass eigenstates. Then, in analogy with the PMNS matrix, the observable rotations are now

$$V_{H\nu} \equiv V_L^{H\dagger} V_L^{\nu}, \quad V_{H\ell} \equiv V_L^{H\dagger} V_L^{\ell}. \tag{2.32}$$

Note that both matrices are related, $V_{H\nu}^{\dagger}V_{H\ell} = V_{\rm PMNS}^{\dagger}$ [28], but this relation can not be tested unless $V_{H\nu}$ can be measured. The new contributions to the LFV amplitudes describing a muon decay to an electron are then proportional to $V_{H\ell}^{ie*}V_{H\ell}^{i\mu}$, with *i* counting the heavy lepton doublets.

3. New contributions to LFV processes

As noted above, the SM contributions to the LFV processes $\mu \to e\gamma$ and $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$ are negligible for they are proportional to the observed neutrino masses. On the other hand the new LHT contributions can be a priori large. In particular, one expects that the dominant



Figure 1: Effective vector-fermion vertex.



Figure 2: Generic penguin and box diagrams for $\mu \to e_1 e_2 \bar{e}_3$. Crossed diagrams with e_1 and e_2 exchanged must be added.

contributions come from the exchange of the new vector bosons and heavy fermions required to realise the discrete symmetry T.⁷ Here we study both processes in turn.

The amplitude $\mu \to e\gamma$ is proportional to the vertex in figure 1, whose most general structure for on-shell fermions $f_{i,j}$ can be written in terms of six form factors:

$$i\Gamma^{\mu}(p_1, p_2) = ie \left[\gamma^{\mu} (F_L^V P_L + F_R^V P_R) + (iF_M^V + F_E^V \gamma_5) \sigma^{\mu\nu} Q_{\nu} + (iF_S^V + F_P^V \gamma_5) Q^{\mu} \right], \quad (3.1)$$

with $P_{R,L} = \frac{1}{2}(1 \pm \gamma_5)$ and $Q = p_2 - p_1$ the vector boson momentum entering into the vertex. If the vector boson V is a photon, the U(1) gauge symmetry is unbroken and current conservation implies

$$(m_i - m_j)(F_L^{\gamma} + F_R^{\gamma}) + 2iQ^2 F_S^{\gamma} = 0, \qquad (3.2)$$

$$-(m_i + m_j)(F_L^{\gamma} - F_R^{\gamma}) + 2Q^2 F_P^{\gamma} = 0.$$
(3.3)

Hence, the LFV process $f_j \to f_i \gamma$ with $i \neq j$ where the photon is on-shell $(Q^2 = 0)$ is completely described by a dipole transition. Indeed, according to eqs. (3.2), (3.3) $F_L^{\gamma} = F_R^{\gamma} = 0$ for on-shell photons, while the form factors $F_{S,P}^{\gamma}$ do not contribute to the amplitude because real photons are transverse. Then, the total width for $\ell_j \to \ell_i \gamma$ is given by [29, 32–35]

$$\Gamma(\ell_j \to \ell_i \gamma) = \frac{\alpha}{2} m_{\ell_j}^3 \left(|F_M^{\gamma}|^2 + |F_E^{\gamma}|^2 \right).$$
(3.4)

On the other hand, two types of diagrams contribute to $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$ (see figure 2). Now, in the diagrams of the first type (penguins) the exchanged gauge boson V can be a γ

⁷The addition of new vector-like leptons in general imply large FCNC already at tree level [10, 29], and stringent constraints from EWPD and LFV processes [30]. In the LHT they are absent because T-parity forbids the coupling of a SM gauge boson to one light and one heavy fermion. Analogously, the presence of heavy scalar triplets with hypercharge 1 in general allows for their direct coupling to two (SM) lepton doublets (for a review and further references see [5, 31]). This is also absent in the LHT because the triplet Φ in eq. (2.5) is T-odd and the SM leptons are T-even.

or a Z but not a heavy vector boson for the coupling is forbidden by T-parity. (Higgspenguins are neglected.) F_L^V and F_R^V do not vanish in penguins. In fact, for γ these form factors are proportional to Q^2 , as we have explicitly checked. Besides, as the gauge boson couples to two on-shell electrons, the contributions from $F_{S,P}^V$ are irrelevant for they multiply the electron mass. The amplitude for this process also receives contributions from box diagrams. The total amplitude for $\mu(p) \to e(p_1) e(p_2) \bar{e}(p_3)$ can be then written [32]

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_{\gamma-\text{penguin}} + \mathcal{M}_{Z-\text{penguin}} + \mathcal{M}_{\text{box}}, \qquad (3.5)$$

with

$$\mathcal{M}_{\gamma-\text{penguin}} = \frac{e^2}{Q^2} \bar{u}(p_1) \left[Q^2 \gamma^{\mu} (A_1^L P_L + A_1^R P_R) + m_{\mu} i \sigma^{\mu\nu} Q_{\nu} (A_2^L P_L + A_2^R P_R) \right] u(p) \\ \times \bar{u}(p_2) \gamma_{\mu} v(p_3) - (p_1 \leftrightarrow p_2), \tag{3.6}$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{Z-\text{penguin}} = \frac{c}{M_Z^2} \bar{u}(p_1) \left[\gamma^{\mu} (F_L P_L + F_R P_R) \right] u(p) \ \bar{u}(p_2) \left[\gamma_{\mu} (Z_L^e P_L + Z_R^e P_R) \right] v(p_3) - (p_1 \leftrightarrow p_2),$$
(3.7)

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{box}} = e^{2}B_{1}^{L} \left[\bar{u}(p_{1})\gamma^{\mu}P_{L}u(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}(p_{2})\gamma_{\mu}P_{L}v(p_{3}) \right] \\ + e^{2}B_{1}^{R} \left[\bar{u}(p_{1})\gamma^{\mu}P_{R}u(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}(p_{2})\gamma_{\mu}P_{R}v(p_{3}) \right] \\ + e^{2}B_{2}^{L} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}(p_{1})\gamma^{\mu}P_{L}u(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}(p_{2})\gamma_{\mu}P_{L}v(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} \\ + e^{2}B_{2}^{R} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}(p_{1})\gamma^{\mu}P_{R}u(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}(p_{2})P_{L}v(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} \\ + e^{2}B_{3}^{L} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}(p_{1})P_{L}u(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}(p_{2})P_{L}v(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} \\ + e^{2}B_{3}^{R} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}(p_{1})P_{R}u(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}(p_{2})P_{R}v(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} \\ + e^{2}B_{4}^{L} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}(p_{1})\sigma^{\mu\nu}P_{L}u(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}(p_{2})\sigma_{\mu\nu}P_{L}v(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} \\ + e^{2}B_{4}^{R} \left\{ \left[\bar{u}(p_{1})\sigma^{\mu\nu}P_{R}u(p) \right] \left[\bar{u}(p_{2})\sigma_{\mu\nu}P_{R}v(p_{3}) \right] - (p_{1} \leftrightarrow p_{2}) \right\} .$$

$$(3.8)$$

We have defined new vertex form factors in the penguin amplitudes

$$A_{1}^{L} = F_{L}^{\gamma}/Q^{2}, \quad A_{1}^{R} = F_{R}^{\gamma}/Q^{2}, \quad A_{2}^{L} = (F_{M}^{\gamma} + iF_{E}^{\gamma})/m_{\mu}, \quad A_{2}^{R} = (F_{M}^{\gamma} - iF_{E}^{\gamma})/m_{\mu},$$

$$F_{L} = -F_{L}^{Z}, \quad F_{R} = -F_{R}^{Z},$$
(3.9)

and used that $Q^2 \ll M_Z^2$ in eq. (3.7). $Z_{L,R}^e$ are the corresponding Z couplings to the electron in the SM (see appendix B). The dipole form factors $F_{M,E}^Z$ are dropped from the amplitude because their contributions are effectively suppressed by a factor $m_{\mu}^2/M_{W_H}^2$. The total width can then be written as [32, 35]:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(\mu \to \mathrm{ee}\bar{\mathrm{e}}) = & \frac{\alpha^2 m_\mu^5}{32\pi} \bigg[|A_1^L|^2 + |A_1^R|^2 - 2(A_1^L A_2^{R*} + A_2^L A_1^{R*} + \mathrm{h.c.}) \\ & + (|A_2^L|^2 + |A_2^R|^2) \bigg(\frac{16}{3} \ln \frac{m_\mu}{m_e} - \frac{22}{3} \bigg) + \frac{1}{6} (|B_1^L|^2 + |B_1^R|^2) + \frac{1}{3} (|B_2^L|^2 + |B_2^R|^2) \\ & + \frac{1}{24} (|B_3^L|^2 + |B_3^R|^2) + 6(|B_4^L|^2 + |B_4^R|^2) - \frac{1}{2} (B_3^L B_4^{L*} + B_3^R B_4^{R*} + \mathrm{h.c.}) \\ & + \frac{1}{3} (A_1^L B_1^{L*} + A_1^R B_1^{R*} + A_1^L B_2^{L*} + A_1^R B_2^{R*} + \mathrm{h.c.}) \end{split}$$

$$-\frac{2}{3}(A_{2}^{R}B_{1}^{L*} + A_{2}^{L}B_{1}^{R*} + A_{2}^{L}B_{2}^{R*} + A_{2}^{R}B_{2}^{L*} + \text{h.c.}) + \frac{1}{3}\left\{2(|F_{LL}|^{2} + |F_{RR}|^{2}) + |F_{LR}|^{2} + |F_{RL}|^{2} + (B_{1}^{L}F_{LL}^{*} + B_{1}^{R}F_{RR}^{*} + B_{2}^{L}F_{LR}^{*} + B_{2}^{R}F_{RL}^{*} + \text{h.c.}) + 2(A_{1}^{L}F_{LL}^{*} + A_{1}^{R}F_{RR}^{*} + \text{h.c.}) + (A_{1}^{L}F_{LR}^{*} + A_{1}^{R}F_{RL}^{*} + \text{h.c.}) - 4(A_{2}^{R}F_{LL}^{*} + A_{2}^{L}F_{RR}^{*} + \text{h.c.}) - 2(A_{2}^{L}F_{RL}^{*} + A_{2}^{R}F_{LR}^{*} + \text{h.c.})\right\} \bigg|, \qquad (3.10)$$

where

$$F_{LL} = \frac{F_L Z_L^e}{M_Z^2}, \quad F_{RR} = \frac{F_R Z_R^e}{M_Z^2}, \quad F_{LR} = \frac{F_L Z_R^e}{M_Z^2}, \quad F_{RL} = \frac{F_R Z_L^e}{M_Z^2}.$$
 (3.11)

Note that the amplitude for the Z-penguin could have been cast into the box structure replacing

$$B_1^L \to B_1^L + 2F_{LL}, \tag{3.12}$$

$$B_1^R \to B_1^R + 2F_{RR},$$
 (3.13)

$$B_2^L \to B_2^L + F_{LR},\tag{3.14}$$

$$B_2^R \to B_2^R + F_{RL}. \tag{3.15}$$

The branching ratios for both types of processes are obtained dividing by the SM decay width

$$\Gamma(\ell_j \to \ell_i \nu_j \bar{\nu}_i) = \frac{G_F^2 m_{\ell_j}^5}{192\pi^3}, \quad G_F = \frac{\pi \alpha}{\sqrt{2} s_W^2 M_W^2}.$$
(3.16)

For τ decays the SM branching ratio must be corrected multiplying by 0.17 to take into account other possible decay channels.

3.1 $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$

Let us now summarize the calculation for $\mu \to e\gamma$. The new one-loop Feynman diagrams contributing to the $V\mu e$ vertex in the LHT model in the 't Hooft-Feynman gauge are listed in figure 3. They are classified in six topology classes. As explained above, in the decay $\mu \to e\gamma$ the photon is on-shell and then only the dipole form factors $F_{M,E}^{\gamma}$ contribute. They are proportional to the muon mass, reflecting the chirality flip character of the dipole transition. (The electron mass is neglected.) We separate the contributions exchanging W_H, Z_H and A_H , expressing the results in terms of standard loop integrals (appendix C).

Diagrams exchanging W_H . Taking $M_1 = M_{W_H}$ and $M_2 = m_{\nu_H^i}$ and introducing the mass ratio

$$y_i = \frac{m_{Hi}^2}{M_{W_H}^2},\tag{3.17}$$



Figure 3: New one-loop diagrams contributing to $V\mu e$ in the LHT model.

with $m_{Hi} \equiv m_{\ell_H^i} \simeq m_{\nu_H^i}$, we find the following contributions from diagrams exchanging W_H (see figure 3):

II:
$$F_M^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = -iF_E^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = -\frac{\alpha_W}{16\pi}m_\mu \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*}V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \left[3\overline{C}_{11} - \overline{C}_1\right],$$
 (3.18)

IV:
$$F_M^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = -iF_E^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = -\frac{\alpha_W}{16\pi}m_{\mu}\sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*}V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} y_i \left[\overline{C}_0 + 3\overline{C}_1 + \frac{3}{2}\overline{C}_{11}\right], (3.19)$$

V:
$$F_M^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = -iF_E^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = 0,$$
 (3.20)

VI:
$$F_M^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = -iF_E^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = \frac{\alpha_W}{16\pi}m_{\mu}\sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*}V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \overline{C}_1,$$
 (3.21)

Total:
$$F_M^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = -iF_E^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = \frac{\alpha_W}{16\pi} \frac{m_\mu}{M_{W_H}^2} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} F_W(y_i),$$
 (3.22)

where $\alpha_W \equiv \alpha/s_W^2$ and

$$F_W(x) = M_1^2 \left[2\overline{C}_1 - 3\overline{C}_{11} - x \left(\overline{C}_0 + 3\overline{C}_1 + \frac{3}{2}\overline{C}_{11} \right) \right]$$

= $\frac{5}{6} - \frac{3x - 15x^2 - 6x^3}{12(1 - x)^3} + \frac{3x^3}{2(1 - x)^4} \ln x.$ (3.23)

The constant term drops from the amplitude due to the unitarity of the mixing matrix. This result is in agreement with [36, 37, 13].

It may be worth to note that these contributions are completely analogous to those of the SM with massive neutrinos, replacing W_H by W, ν_H^i by ν_i and $V_{H\ell}$ by $V_{\rm PMNS}^{\dagger}$. For tiny neutrino masses, $x_i = m_{\nu_i}^2/M_W^2 \ll 1$,

$$F_W(x) \to \frac{5}{6} - \frac{x}{4} + \mathcal{O}(x^2),$$
 (3.24)

and we recover a well known result [36] bounded by neutrino oscillation experiments:

$$\mathcal{B}(\mu \to \mathrm{e}\gamma)_{\mathrm{SM}} = \frac{3\alpha}{32\pi} \left| \sum_{i} V_{\mathrm{PMNS}}^{ei} V_{\mathrm{PMNS}}^{\mu i *} x_i \right|^2 \lesssim 10^{-54}.$$
(3.25)

Diagrams exchanging Z_H . Taking now $M_1 = M_{Z_H}$ and $M_2 = m_{\ell_H^i}$, with the same y_i , we get:

I:
$$F_M^{\gamma}|_{Z_H} = -iF_E^{\gamma}|_{Z_H} = \frac{\alpha_W}{16\pi}m_\mu \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*}V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \left[C_0 + 3C_1 + \frac{3}{2}C_{11}\right],$$
 (3.26)

III:
$$F_M^{\gamma}|_{Z_H} = -iF_E^{\gamma}|_{Z_H} = -\frac{\alpha_W}{32\pi}m_{\mu}\sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*}V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} y_i \left[C_1 - \frac{3}{2}C_{11}\right],$$
 (3.27)

Total:
$$F_M^{\gamma}|_{Z_H} = -iF_E^{\gamma}|_{Z_H} = \frac{\alpha_W}{16\pi} \frac{m_{\mu}}{M_{W_H}^2} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} F_Z(y_i),$$
 (3.28)

where

$$F_Z(x) = M_1^2 \left[C_0 + 3C_1 + \frac{3}{2}C_{11} - \frac{x}{2} \left(C_1 - \frac{3}{2}C_{11} \right) \right]$$

= $-\frac{1}{3} + \frac{2x + 5x^2 - x^3}{8(1 - x)^3} + \frac{3x^2}{4(1 - x)^4} \ln x,$ (3.29)

in agreement with [37, 13].

Diagrams exchanging A_H . This contribution can be obtained from that of the diagrams with a Z_H , replacing Z_H by A_H . It is convenient to introduce the mass ratio

$$y'_{i} = ay_{i}, \quad a = \frac{M_{W_{H}}^{2}}{M_{A_{H}}^{2}} = \frac{5c_{W}^{2}}{s_{W}^{2}}.$$
 (3.30)

Then,

$$F_{M}^{\gamma}|_{A_{H}} = -iF_{E}^{\gamma}|_{A_{H}} = \frac{\alpha_{W}}{16\pi} \frac{m_{\mu}}{M_{A_{H}}^{2}} \frac{1}{25} \frac{s_{W}^{2}}{c_{W}^{2}} \sum_{i} V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} F_{Z}(y_{i}')$$
$$= \frac{\alpha_{W}}{16\pi} \frac{m_{\mu}}{M_{W_{H}}^{2}} \frac{1}{5} \sum_{i} V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} F_{Z}(y_{i}').$$
(3.31)



Figure 4: Box diagrams for $\mu \to e_1 e_2 \bar{e}_3$ in the LHT model. Crossed diagrams with e_1 and e_2 exchanged must be added.

Branching ratio. Using $M_W^2/M_{W_H}^2 = v^2/(4f^2)$ and $M_{W_H} = M_{Z_H}$, we finally obtain:

$$\mathcal{B}(\mu \to \mathrm{e}\gamma) = \frac{3\alpha}{2\pi} \left| \frac{v^2}{4f^2} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \left(F_W(y_i) + F_Z(y_i) + \frac{1}{5} F_Z(ay_i) \right) \right|^2, \quad (3.32)$$

with F_W and F_Z given in eqs. (3.23) and (3.29), respectively.

3.2 $\mu \rightarrow ee\bar{e}$

The self-energy diagrams do contribute to $F_{L,R}^V$ in this process, and must be included to calculate the penguin diagrams in $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$. On the other hand, apart from the box diagrams, only γ - and Z-penguin diagrams contribute to $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$ in the LHT model. This is so because A_H and Z_H do not couple to two ordinary fermions, as required by T-parity conservation. (Higgs-penguins vanish in the limit of massless electrons, as do F_R^V in this limit too.) For the sake of brevity we present our results grouping together the W_H , Z_H and A_H contributions, but we distinguish among the γ - and Z-penguins in figure 3 and the boxes in figure 4.

The γ -penguin. The form factors F_M^{γ} and F_E^{γ} have the same expressions (3.22), (3.28), (3.31) as for an on-shell photon, since terms of order Q^2 can

be neglected. The contributions to F_L^{γ} , which are proportional to $Q^2 \sim m_{\mu}^2$ as expected, are detailed below.

For $M_1 = M_{W_H}$, $M_2 = m_{\nu_H^i}$ and $y_i = m_{Hi}^2/M_{W_H}^2$ as before, the diagrams with W_H yield

$$F_L^{\gamma}|_{W_H} = \frac{\alpha_W}{4\pi} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} G_W(y_i)$$

= $\frac{\alpha_W}{4\pi} \frac{Q^2}{M_{W_H}^2} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} G_W^{(1)}(y_i),$ (3.33)

with

$$G_W(x) = -\frac{1}{2} + \overline{B}_1 + 6\overline{C}_{00} + x\left(\frac{1}{2}\overline{B}_1 + \overline{C}_{00} - M_1^2\overline{C}_0\right) - \left(2\overline{C}_1 + \frac{1}{2}\overline{C}_{11}\right)Q^2$$

= $\Delta_\epsilon - \ln\frac{M_1^2}{\mu^2} + \frac{Q^2}{M_1^2}G_W^{(1)}(x) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Q^4}{M_1^4}\right),$ (3.34)

$$G_W^{(1)}(x) = -\frac{5}{18} + \frac{x(12+x-7x^2)}{24(1-x)^3} + \frac{x^2(12-10x+x^2)}{12(1-x)^4} \ln x.$$
(3.35)

Relations (C.20) and (C.22) have been used in (3.34). Note that owing to the unitarity of the mixing matrix the x-independent terms in $G_W(x)$ drop out (including the ultraviolet divergence). The SM prediction is obtained by replacing W_H by W, ν_H^i by ν_i and $V_{H\ell}$ by $V_{\rm PMNS}^{\dagger}$.

For $M_1 = M_{Z_H}(= M_{W_H})$, $M_2 = m_{\ell_H^i} \simeq m_{\nu_H^i}$ and the same y_i , the contribution of diagrams with Z_H is

$$F_L^{\gamma}|_{Z_H} = \frac{\alpha_W}{4\pi} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} G_Z(y_i)$$
(3.36)

$$= \frac{\alpha_W}{4\pi} \frac{Q^2}{M_{W_H}^2} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \ G_Z^{(1)}(y_i), \qquad (3.37)$$

with

$$G_Z(x) = \left(1 + \frac{x}{2}\right) \left(-\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2}\overline{B}_1 + C_{00} - \frac{x}{2}M_1^2C_0\right) - \left(\frac{1}{2}C_0 + C_1 + \frac{1}{8}(2+x)C_{11}\right)Q^2$$

$$= \frac{Q^2}{M_1^2}G_Z^{(1)}(x) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Q^4}{M_1^4}\right), \qquad (3.38)$$

$$G_Z^{(1)}(x) = \frac{1}{36} + \frac{x(18 - 11x - x^2)}{48(1 - x)^3} - \frac{4 - 16x + 9x^2}{24(1 - x)^4} \ln x.$$
(3.39)

The relation (C.22) has been used in eq. (3.38).

Finally, the contribution of diagrams with A_H is obtained from that of diagrams with Z_H replacing Z_H by A_H , and y_i by $y'_i = 5c_W^2 y_i/s_W^2$:

$$F_L^{\gamma}|_{A_H} = \frac{\alpha_W}{4\pi} \frac{Q^2}{M_{W_H}^2} \frac{1}{5} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \ G_Z^{(1)}(y_i'). \tag{3.40}$$

The Z-penguin. The Z dipole form factors $F_{M,E}^Z$ (which are chirality flipping and hence proportional to the muon mass) can be neglected as compared to F_L^Z . This is in contrast with the γ -penguin, for which $QF_{M,E}^{\gamma}(\sim QF_{M,E}^Z) \sim Q^2/M_{W_H}^2 \lesssim m_{\mu}^2/M_{W_H}^2 \sim F_L^{\gamma}$, to be compared with $F_L^Z \sim 1$. This justifies to neglect $F_{M,E}^Z$ in the Z-penguin (3.7).

Taking $M_1 = M_{W_H}$, $M_2 = m_{Hi}$ and $y_i = m_{Hi}^2 / M_{W_H}^2$, and using the unitarity of $V_{H\ell}$ we obtain:

$$F_{L}^{Z}|_{W_{H}} = \frac{\alpha_{W}}{8\pi} \frac{1}{s_{W}c_{W}} \sum_{i} V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \left\{ -2c_{W}^{2} \left(-\frac{1}{2} + \overline{B}_{1} + 6\overline{C}_{00} - y_{i}M_{W_{H}}^{2}\overline{C}_{0} \right) - y_{i}c_{W}^{2} \left(\overline{B}_{1} + 2\overline{C}_{00} \right) + 2\left(1 + \frac{y_{i}}{2} \right) \left(-\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2}\overline{B}_{1} + C_{00} - \frac{y_{i}}{2}M_{W_{H}}^{2}C_{0} \right) + \frac{v^{2}}{f^{2}} \frac{y_{i}}{16} \left[1 + 4(\overline{C}_{00} - C_{00} + M_{W_{H}}^{2} \left(C_{0} - 2\overline{C}_{0} \right)) \right] \right\} \\ = \frac{\alpha_{W}}{8\pi} \frac{1}{s_{W}c_{W}} \sum_{i} V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \left\{ -2c_{W}^{2} \left(\Delta_{\epsilon} - \ln \frac{M_{W_{H}}^{2}}{\mu^{2}} \right) + \frac{v^{2}}{f^{2}} \frac{y_{i}}{8} H_{W}(y_{i}) \right\} \\ = \frac{\alpha_{W}}{8\pi} \frac{1}{s_{W}c_{W}} \sum_{i} V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \frac{v^{2}}{f^{2}} \frac{y_{i}}{8} H_{W}(y_{i}), \qquad (3.41)$$

with

$$H_W(x) = \frac{6-x}{1-x} + \frac{2+3x}{(1-x)^2} \ln x, \qquad (3.42)$$

and

$$F_{L}^{Z}|_{Z_{H}} = \frac{\alpha_{W}}{8\pi} \frac{1}{s_{W}c_{W}} \sum_{i} V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} (1 - 2c_{W}^{2}) \left(-\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2}\overline{B}_{1} + C_{00} - \frac{y_{i}}{2}M_{WH}^{2}C_{0} \right) \\ \times \left\{ \left(1 + \frac{y_{i}}{2} \right) - \frac{v^{2}}{f^{2}} \left[\frac{y_{i}}{4} + \left(\frac{c_{W}}{s_{W}}y_{i} - \frac{2s_{W}}{5c_{W}} \right) x_{H} \right] \right\} = 0, \qquad (3.43)$$

$$F_{L}^{Z}|_{A_{H}} = \frac{\alpha_{W}}{8\pi} \frac{1}{s_{W}c_{W}} \sum_{i} V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} (1 - 2c_{W}^{2}) \left(-\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2}\overline{B}_{1} + C_{00} - \frac{y_{i}}{2}M_{A_{H}}^{2}C_{0} \right)$$

$$\times \frac{1}{25} \frac{s_W^2}{c_W^2} \left\{ \left(1 + \frac{y_i'}{2} \right) - \frac{v^2}{f^2} \left[\frac{5}{4} y_i' + \left(\frac{s_W}{c_W} y_i' + 10 \frac{c_W}{s_W} \right) x_H \right] \right\} = 0.$$
(3.44)

Here x_H is a constant defining the mixing between the heavy neutral gauge bosons and function of the gauge couplings (see eq. (A.4)). We observe that the only contribution to the Z-penguins comes from the diagrams with W_H , and it is proportional to v^2/f^2 . The potentially dangerous ultraviolet divergences proportional to y_i have cancelled thanks to the proper v^2/f^2 corrections to the $\omega^{\pm}W_H^{\mp}Z$ and $Z\bar{\nu}_{HR}^i\nu_{HR}^i$ couplings. The corrections to the latter were not included in [13].

For completeness, we give the prediction for the Z-penguin in the SM with light massive neutrinos. Although in the LHT the heavy leptons are vector-like and the Z boson couples to both chiralities, the final form of the vertex is the same. This is more easily seen in the unitary gauge, where the heavy modes contribution is only given by diagram I in figure 3 and is proportional to the v^2/f^2 correction to the $Z\bar{\nu}_{HR}^i\nu_{HR}^i$ coupling (see [26] for further discussion). Taking $M_1 = M_W$, $M_2 = m_{\nu_i}$ and $x_i = m_{\nu_i}^2/M_W^2$, and using the unitarity of $V_{\rm PMNS}$ we obtain:

$$F_{L}^{Z}|_{W} = \frac{\alpha_{W}}{8\pi} \frac{1}{s_{W}c_{W}} \sum_{i} V_{\text{PMNS}}^{ei} V_{\text{PMNS}}^{\mu i*} \left\{ -2c_{W}^{2} \left(-\frac{1}{2} + \overline{B}_{1} + 6\overline{C}_{00} - x_{i}M_{W}^{2}\overline{C}_{0} \right) + \frac{x_{i}}{2} (1 - 2c_{W}^{2}) \left(\overline{B}_{1} + 2\overline{C}_{00} \right) - \frac{1}{2} + \overline{B}_{1} + 2C_{00} - \frac{x_{i}}{2} M_{W}^{2} (4\overline{C}_{0} + x_{i}C_{0}) \right\}$$

$$= \frac{\alpha_{W}}{16\pi} \frac{1}{s_{W}c_{W}} \sum_{i} V_{\text{PMNS}}^{ei} V_{\text{PMNS}}^{\mu i*} \left\{ -4c_{W}^{2} \left(\Delta_{\epsilon} - \ln \frac{M_{W}^{2}}{\mu^{2}} \right) - 1 + 2(\overline{B}_{1} + 2C_{00}) - x_{i}M_{W}^{2} (4\overline{C}_{0} + x_{i}C_{0}) \right\}$$

$$= \frac{\alpha_{W}}{16\pi} \frac{1}{s_{W}c_{W}} \sum_{i} V_{\text{PMNS}}^{ei} V_{\text{PMNS}}^{\mu i*} x_{i}H_{W}(x_{i}), \qquad (3.45)$$

which is, of course, finite and in agreement with ref. [33] for $Q^2 = 0$.

Box diagrams. There are eight different classes of box diagrams grouped in types A and B in the LHT model (figure 4). In the limit of zero external momenta (all internal masses are much larger than the muon mass) all of them have the same form, being proportional to a scalar integral over the internal momentum q. Indeed, omitting the corresponding denominator $(q^2 - m_{Hi}^2)^2 (q^2 - M_{G_H}^2)^2$, with G = W, Z or A,

$$A1: \langle p_{1} | \gamma^{\mu} P_{L}(-\not{q} + m_{Hi}) \gamma^{\nu} P_{L} | p \rangle \langle p_{2} | \gamma_{\nu} P_{L}(-\not{q} + m_{Hi}) \gamma_{\mu} P_{L} | p_{3} \rangle$$

$$= \frac{q^{2}}{4} \langle p_{1} | \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^{\alpha} \gamma^{\nu} P_{L} | p \rangle \langle p_{2} | \gamma_{\nu} \gamma_{\alpha} \gamma_{\mu} P_{L} | p_{3} \rangle$$

$$= q^{2} \langle p_{1} | \gamma^{\mu} P_{L} | p \rangle \langle p_{2} | \gamma_{\mu} P_{L} | p_{3} \rangle, \qquad (3.46)$$

$$A2: - \langle p_{1} | \gamma^{\mu} P_{L}(-\not{q} + m_{Hi}) P_{L} | p \rangle \langle p_{2} | P_{R}(-\not{q} + m_{Hi}) \gamma_{\mu} P_{L} | p_{3} \rangle$$

$$= -m_{Hi}m_{Hj} \langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu} P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu} P_L | p_3 \rangle ,$$

$$= -m_{Hi}m_{Hj} \langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu} P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu} P_L | p_3 \rangle ,$$

$$(3.47)$$

A3:
$$-\langle p_1 | P_R(-\not q + m_{Hi})\gamma^{\mu} P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu} P_L(-\not q + m_{Hi}) P_L | p_3 \rangle$$
$$= -m_{Hi} m_{Hj} \langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu} P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu} P_L | p_3 \rangle, \qquad (3.48)$$

A4:
$$\langle p_1 | P_R(-\not q + m_{Hi}) P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | P_R(-\not q + m_{Hi}) P_L | p_3 \rangle$$

$$= \frac{q^2}{4} \langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu} P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu} P_L | p_3 \rangle, \qquad (3.49)$$

B1:
$$\langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu} P_L(\not q + m_{Hi}) \gamma^{\nu} P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\nu} P_L(-\not q + m_{Hi}) \gamma_{\mu} P_L | p_3 \rangle$$

$$= -\frac{q^2}{4} \langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^{\alpha} \gamma^{\nu} P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu} \gamma_{\alpha} \gamma_{\nu} P_L | p_3 \rangle$$

$$= -4q^2 \langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu} P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu} P_L | p_3 \rangle, \qquad (3.50)$$

B2:
$$-\langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu} P_L(\not q + m_{Hi}) P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | P_R(-\not q + m_{Hi}) \gamma_{\mu} P_L | p_3 \rangle$$
$$= -m_{Hi} m_{Hj} \langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu} P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu} P_L | p_3 \rangle, \qquad (3.51)$$

$$B3: - \langle p_1 | P_R(\not q + m_{Hi})\gamma^{\mu}P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu}P_L(-\not q + m_{Hi})P_L | p_3 \rangle$$

$$= -m_{Hi}m_{Hj} \langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu}P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu}P_L | p_3 \rangle, \qquad (3.52)$$

$$B4: \langle p_1 | P_R(\not q + m_{Hi})P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | P_R(-\not q + m_{Hi})P_L | p_3 \rangle$$

$$4: \langle p_1 | P_R(\not q + m_{Hi}) P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | P_R(-\not q + m_{Hi}) P_L | p_3 \rangle$$

$$= -\frac{q^2}{4} \langle p_1 | \gamma^{\mu} P_L | p \rangle \langle p_2 | \gamma_{\mu} P_L | p_3 \rangle. \qquad (3.53)$$

Thus, all box form factors except B_1^L vanish (see eq. (3.8)). Using the Fierz identity

$$\langle 1|\gamma^{\mu}P_{L}|2\rangle\langle 3|\gamma_{\mu}P_{L}|4\rangle = -\langle 3|\gamma^{\mu}P_{L}|2\rangle\langle 1|\gamma_{\mu}P_{L}|4\rangle \tag{3.54}$$

and including all the factors, we obtain the generic expressions for the contributions from diagrams of types A and B (see figure 4 and appendix B for definitions),

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{A}: \quad B_{1}^{L} &= 2\frac{\alpha}{4\pi} \sum_{ij} \left[\left(g_{L1}^{ie*} g_{L2}^{i\mu} g_{L1}^{je} g_{L2}^{je*} + \frac{1}{4} c_{L1}^{ie*} c_{L2}^{i\mu} c_{L2}^{je} c_{L2}^{je*} \right) \widetilde{D}_{0}(M_{1}^{2}, M_{2}^{2}, m_{Hi}^{2}, m_{Hj}^{2}) \\ &- \left(g_{L1}^{ie*} c_{L2}^{i\mu} g_{L1}^{je} c_{L2}^{je*} + c_{L1}^{ie*} g_{L2}^{i\mu} c_{L1}^{je} g_{L2}^{je*} \right) m_{Hi} m_{Hj} D_{0}(M_{1}^{2}, M_{2}^{2}, m_{Hi}^{2}, m_{Hj}^{2}) \right], (3.55) \\ \mathbf{B}: \quad B_{1}^{L} &= 2\frac{\alpha}{4\pi} \sum_{ij} \left[- \left(4g_{L2}^{ie*} g_{L1}^{i\mu} g_{L2}^{je} + \frac{1}{4} c_{L2}^{ie*} c_{L1}^{i\mu} c_{L2}^{je*} \right) \widetilde{D}_{0}(M_{1}^{2}, M_{2}^{2}, m_{Hi}^{2}, m_{Hj}^{2}) \\ &- \left(g_{L2}^{ie*} c_{L1}^{i\mu} c_{L2}^{je} g_{L2}^{je*} + c_{L2}^{ie*} g_{L1}^{i\mu} g_{L2}^{je*} \right) m_{Hi} m_{Hj} D_{0}(M_{1}^{2}, M_{2}^{2}, m_{Hi}^{2}, m_{Hj}^{2}) \right]. (3.56) \end{split}$$

Finally, replacing the vertex coefficients given in appendix B we derive the contributions of the heavy gauge bosons and the corresponding would-be-Goldstone bosons:

$$B_1^L(W_H, W_H) = \frac{\alpha}{2\pi} \frac{1}{4s_W^4} \frac{1}{M_W^2} \frac{v^2}{4f^2} \sum_{ij} \chi_{ij} \left[\left(1 + \frac{1}{4} y_i y_j \right) \widetilde{d}_0(y_i, y_j) - 2y_i y_j d_0(y_i, y_j) \right], (3.57)$$

$$B_1^L(Z_H, Z_H) = \frac{\alpha}{2\pi} \frac{1}{16s_W^4} \frac{1}{M_W^2} \frac{v^2}{4f^2} \sum_{ij} \chi_{ij} \left[-3\widetilde{d}_0(y_i, y_j) \right], \qquad (3.58)$$

$$B_1^L(A_H, A_H) = \frac{\alpha}{2\pi} \frac{1}{16s_W^4} \frac{1}{25a} \frac{1}{M_W^2} \frac{v^2}{4f^2} \sum_{ij} \chi_{ij} \left[-3\widetilde{d}_0(y'_i, y'_j) \right],$$
(3.59)

$$B_1^L(Z_H, A_H) = \frac{\alpha}{2\pi} \frac{1}{16s_W^4} \frac{2}{5} \frac{1}{M_W^2} \frac{v^2}{4f^2} \sum_{ij} \chi_{ij} \left[-3\widetilde{d}_0(a, y'_i, y'_j) \right],$$
(3.60)

with

$$\chi_{ij} = V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} |V_{H\ell}^{je}|^2.$$
(3.61)

The SM contribution from the exchange of the light neutrinos is again similar to that from W_H , but performing the corresponding replacements.

Branching ratio. Collecting everything, the non-vanishing contributions to the vertex and box form factors in eq. (3.10) from γ -penguins, Z-penguins and box diagrams in the LHT can be written

$$A_1^L = \frac{F_L^{\gamma}}{Q^2} = \frac{\alpha_W}{4\pi} \frac{1}{M_W^2} \frac{v^2}{4f^2} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \left[G_W^{(1)}(y_i) + G_Z^{(1)}(y_i) + \frac{1}{5} G_Z^{(1)}(ay_i) \right], \quad (3.62)$$

$$A_2^R = \frac{2F_M^{\gamma}}{m_{\mu}} = \frac{\alpha_W}{8\pi} \frac{1}{M_W^2} \frac{v^2}{4f^2} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \left[F_W(y_i) + F_Z(y_i) + \frac{1}{5} F_Z(ay_i) \right], \quad (3.63)$$

$$F_{LL} = -\frac{F_L^Z Z_L^e}{M_Z^2} = \frac{\alpha_W}{8\pi} \frac{1 - 2s_W^2}{2s_W^2} \frac{1}{M_W^2} \frac{v^2}{f^2} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \frac{y_i}{8} H_W(y_i), \qquad (3.64)$$

$$F_{LR} = -\frac{F_L^Z Z_R^e}{M_Z^2} = -\frac{\alpha_W}{8\pi} \frac{1}{M_W^2} \frac{v^2}{f^2} \sum_i V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} \frac{y_i}{8} \ H_W(y_i),$$
(3.65)

$$B_{1}^{L} = \frac{\alpha_{W}}{8\pi} \frac{1}{s_{W}^{2}} \frac{1}{M_{W}^{2}} \frac{v^{2}}{4f^{2}} \sum_{ij} \chi_{ij} \left[\left(1 + \frac{1}{4} y_{i} y_{j} \right) \tilde{d}_{0}(y_{i}, y_{j}) - 2y_{i} y_{j} d_{0}(y_{i}, y_{j}) - \frac{3}{4} \tilde{d}_{0}(y_{i}, y_{j}) - \frac{3}{100a} \tilde{d}_{0}(ay_{i}, ay_{j}) - \frac{3}{10} \tilde{d}_{0}(a, ay_{i}, ay_{j}) \right].$$
(3.66)

The branching ratio reads

$$\mathcal{B}(\mu \to \text{eee}) = 12s_W^4 M_W^4 \left\{ |A_1^L|^2 - 2(A_1^L A_2^{R*} + \text{h.c.}) + |A_2^R|^2 \left(\frac{16}{3} \ln \frac{m_\mu}{m_e} - \frac{22}{3} \right) + \frac{1}{6} |B_1^L|^2 + \frac{1}{3} (A_1^L B_1^{L*} + \text{h.c.}) - \frac{2}{3} (A_2^R B_1^{L*} + \text{h.c.}) + \frac{1}{3} \left(2|F_{LL}|^2 + |F_{LR}|^2 \right) + \frac{1}{3} \left(B_1^L F_{LL}^* + 2A_1^L F_{LL}^* + A_1^L F_{LR}^* - 4A_2^R F_{LL}^* - 2A_2^R F_{LR}^* + \text{h.c.} \right) \right\}. \quad (3.67)$$

4. Numerical results

In order to study the bounds on the new parameters imposed by the experimental limits on $\mu \to e\gamma$ and $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$, it is convenient to restrict ourselves to the case of two generations. Hence, we are left with four parameters: the LH order parameter f, the masses of the two heavy lepton doublets in (A.18) m_{Hi} (i = 1, 2), and the angle θ defining the 2 × 2 mixing matrix between the heavy and the SM charged leptons

$$V_{H\ell} = \begin{pmatrix} V_{H\ell}^{1e} & V_{H\ell}^{1\mu} \\ V_{H\ell}^{2e} & V_{H\ell}^{2\mu} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta & \sin\theta \\ -\sin\theta & \cos\theta \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.1)

(In the contributions we consider the e and μ phases, as well as the heavy lepton doublet phases, can be safely redefined.) We shall replace m_{H1} , m_{H2} by δ and \tilde{y} , however, to present our results. The former, which is proportional to the heavy lepton mass difference, describes together with θ the alignment between heavy and SM charged leptons,

$$\delta = \frac{m_{H2}^2 - m_{H1}^2}{m_{H1}m_{H2}}.$$
(4.2)

Whereas the latter, which sets the heavy lepton scale, is relevant for discussing decoupling,

$$\tilde{y} = \sqrt{y_1 y_2}, \quad y_i = \frac{m_{H_i}^2}{M_{W_H}^2}, \quad i = 1, 2.$$
(4.3)

Note that both M_{W_H} and m_{Hi} are proportional to f (see appendix A). The penguin contributions then take the form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2} V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} F(y_i) = \frac{\sin 2\theta}{2} \left[F(y_1) - F(y_2) \right], \tag{4.4}$$

where F stands for a generic function; and the box contributions

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{2} V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} |V_{H\ell}^{je}|^2 F(y_i, y_j) = \frac{\sin 2\theta}{2} \Big\{ \cos^2 \theta \left[F(y_1, y_1) - F(y_2, y_1) \right] \\ + \sin^2 \theta \left[F(y_1, y_2) - F(y_2, y_2) \right] \Big\}.$$
(4.5)

Thus, the LFV amplitudes vanish for vanishing mixing, $\theta = 0$, or heavy mass splitting, $\delta = 0$.

We plot for illustration in figure 5 the form factors for the $\mu \to e\gamma$ and $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$ decay amplitudes calculated in the previous section as a function of δ for several θ and \tilde{y} values and f = 1 TeV. They grow with \tilde{y} and scale like f^{-2} . In contrast with the MSSM case [32, 35], box contributions to $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$ are of the same order than penguins, in particular for $\tilde{y} \gtrsim 1$, which explains the different behaviour of the decay rates with the sign of δ for non-maximal flavour mixing. The dependence on the new parameters is more clearly seen in figures 6 and 7. They show the present exclusion contours in the $(\sin 2\theta, \delta)$ plane implied by the present limits on $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to e\gamma) < 1.2 \times 10^{-11}$ [38] and $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to ee\bar{e}) < 10^{-12}$ [39], respectively, and for three values of \tilde{y} , 0.25, 1, 4. The regions above each line of constant f are excluded. As it can be observed, mixing angle and mass splitting are correlated, because the alignment between the Yukawa couplings of the heavy and the SM charged leptons goes to zero with any of them. Present limits on LFV muon decays imply that θ or $\delta \lesssim 0.1$ for $\tilde{y} = 1$ and f = 1 TeV. If no LFV signal is seen by the MEG experiment at PSI, the limits are expected to improve by two orders of magnitude [40] and the corresponding exclusion contours would be those in figures 6 and 7 replacing f by $\sqrt{10}f$.

As already emphasized, the LFV branching ratios scale like f^{-4} . However, the \tilde{y} dependence deserves more discussion. In figure 8 we plot the variation of the form factors and of the branching ratios with \tilde{y} for maximal mixing, $\sin 2\theta = 1$, and $\delta = 1$. Two comments are in order. The non-observation of these LFV processes already sets non-trivial limits on the LHT parameters because the central region $\tilde{y} \sim 1$ is already excluded for natural values of the other parameters. More interestingly, $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to ee\bar{e})$ goes like \tilde{y}^2 for very large \tilde{y} . This is so because \tilde{y} is quadratic in the heavy Yukawa coupling κ , which goes to infinity with the heavy lepton masses for fixed f. This behaviour is similar to the leading EWPD dependence on the top quark mass [41], which scales with m_t^2 in the region of physical interest, allowing a determination of the top mass from a global fit [42]. Just like in the top quark case, the dependence is moderate when the particles within multiplets become degenerate (the symmetry is recovered). Generic limits from all these figures are tabulated in the summary below.

Let us, finally, comment on the general case with three families. Similarly to the two family case, we have to align the new contributions to the electron and to the muon at the 10% level. However, now this alignment is not easily related to the usual parameterization







Figure 6: Contours of $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to e\gamma) = 1.2 \times 10^{-11}$ in the $(\sin 2\theta, \delta)$ plane for $\tilde{y} = 0.25, 1, 4$ (left, center, right) and f = 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4 TeV (from bottom up).



Figure 7: Contours of $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to ee\bar{e}) = 10^{-12}$ in the $(\sin 2\theta, \delta)$ plane for $\tilde{y} = 0.25, 1, 4$ (left, center, right) and f = 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4 TeV (from bottom up).

of the mixing in terms of two mass splittings, three mixing angles and one phase (as in the two family case we can safely redefine the e and μ , as well as the heavy lepton doublet phases, and then use the same parameterization as for the CKM matrix [42]). In order to estimate the fine tuning required by $\mu \to e\gamma$, for instance, we rather introduce the ratio (see eq. (4.4))

$$\frac{\left|\sum_{i=1}^{3} V_{H\ell}^{ie*} V_{H\ell}^{i\mu} F(y_i)\right|^2}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} |V_{H\ell}^{ie}|^2 |F(y_i)|\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} |V_{H\ell}^{i\mu}|^2 |F(y_i)|\right)},\tag{4.6}$$



Figure 8: Form factors multiplied by M_W^2 (left) and branching ratios (right) as a function of \tilde{y} for $\sin 2\theta = \delta = 1$ and f = 1 TeV. The latter must be compared with present experimental limits on $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to e\gamma) < 1.2 \times 10^{-11}$ and $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to ee\bar{e}) < 10^{-12}$.

which approximately scales like $\sin^2 2\theta \delta^2$ for two families. This is $\leq 10^{-2}$ for almost all the three family parameter space when $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to e\gamma)$ is below the present experimental limit, and at most $\sim 10^{-4}$ if the limit improves by two orders of magnitude. There is a special region in parameter space, however, where the ratio (4.6) can be larger even though $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to e\gamma)$ is well below the experimental limit. This is around $y_i \sim 0.3$, where the total amplitude $F(y_i) \sim F_W(y_i) + F_Z(y_i) + \frac{1}{5}F_Z(ay_i)$ in eq. (3.32) is negligible (see right panel of figure 8). But this region is excluded by the present limit on $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to ee\bar{e})$. Thus, the new contributions to the electron and to the muon must be aligned at the 10% level, being the square of this precision the largest value of the ratio in eq. (4.6). Analogously, we can define the corresponding ratio using the amplitudes for $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$ in eqs. (4.4), (4.5), obtaining similar results. The numerical analysis presented here is at some extent complementary to the study in ref. [13], where the correlation between different observables, in particular between $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to e\gamma)$ and $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to ee\bar{e})$, is explicitly shown.

5. Conclusions

LH models provide a natural explanation of the little hierarchy between the EW scale and the scale where we expect the NP to be, and which is to be explored by the LHC. However, these models where the Higgs is a pseudo-Goldstone boson of an approximate global symmetry in general suffer some tension in accommodating the many new particles required near the TeV scale without upsetting the EWPD constraints. This is ameliorated by further extending the model to include a discrete symmetry, the T parity, under which all observed particles, including the Higgs boson, are even and hopefully all the new ones are odd. All these models, as any *universal* NP near the TeV scale, must also guarantee

$\mathcal{B}(\mu \to e\gamma) < 1.2 \times 10^{-11} (\sin 2\theta = 1)$					
$f \; [\text{TeV}]$	$\tilde{y} = 0.25$	$\tilde{y} = 1$	$\tilde{y} = 4$		
0.5	$ \delta < 0.13$	$ \delta < 0.040$	$ \delta < 0.027$		
1.0	$ \delta < 0.52$	$ \delta < 0.16$	$ \delta < 0.11$		
2.0	$ \delta < 2.2$	$ \delta < 0.66$	$ \delta < 0.43$		
4.0	$ \delta < 14$	$ \delta < 3.5$	$ \delta < 2.0$		

Table 1: Bounds on the splitting δ from the present experimental limit on $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to e\gamma)$ for several scales f and ratios \tilde{y} , taking $\sin 2\theta = 1$.

$\mathcal{B}(\mu \to ee\bar{e}) < 10^{-12} (\sin 2\theta = 1)$						
$f \; [\text{TeV}]$	$\tilde{y} = 0.25$	$\tilde{y} = 1$	$\tilde{y} = 4$			
0.5	$ \delta < 0.16$	$ \delta < 0.045$	$ \delta < 0.015$			
1.0	$ \delta < 0.64$	$ \delta < 0.18$	$ \delta < 0.061$			
2.0	$ \delta < 2.7$	$ \delta < 0.72$	$ \delta < 0.24$			
4.0	$ \delta < 13$	$ \delta < 3.3$	$ \delta < 0.98$			

Table 2: Bounds on the splitting δ from the present experimental limits on $\mathcal{B}(\mu \to ee\bar{e})$ for several scales f and ratios \tilde{y} , taking $\sin 2\theta = 1$.

that the new particles do not mediate too large FCNC processes. We have recalculated the new contributions to the LFV processes $\mu \to e\gamma$ and $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$ in the LHT model, the most economical of such proposals. The full Lagrangian has been introduced and all pieces of the calculation, in particular the Z-penguin and box diagrams contributing to $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$, have been considered in detail. We have found that the former are ultraviolet finite when all the Goldstone boson interactions to the order considered are included. Whereas we recover previous results for $\mu \to e\gamma$ [12, 13].

The present limits on the rates of LFV processes translate into bounds on the LHT parameters. Tables 1 and 2 show the bounds imposed in the two family case by $\mu \to e\gamma$ and $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$, respectively, on the heavy lepton mass splitting δ for a maximal mixing angle, $\sin 2\theta = 1$, and several values of the LH scale f and the ratio \tilde{y} related to the common heavy lepton mass. The main conclusion is that the new parameters must be tuned to 10% for a *natural* value $f \sim 1$ TeV. Obviously, raising f quickly reduces the decay rates, which scale as f^{-4} . The results are also sensitive to the parameter \tilde{y} , but the dependence is mild for moderate values (see figure 8), when rates scale roughly like $\sin^2 2\theta \ \delta^2$. The non-observation of LFV effects may be also the result of a conspiracy among the new parameters being all slightly above or below their expected natural values, of order one. Analogous fine tuning on the alignment of light and heavy leptons is required in the general case with three families.

In table 3 we give both the present and future bounds if the current limits on $\mu \to e\gamma$ and $\mu \to ee\bar{e}$ are improved by two orders of magnitude [40]. An asterisk indicates that the assumed values are excluded for any possible \tilde{y} . A non-empty region for \tilde{y} is recovered

	$\mathcal{B}(\mu$ -	$\rightarrow e\gamma) < 1.2 \times 10^{-11} (10^{-13})$	$\mathcal{B}(\mu$ -	$\rightarrow ee\bar{e}) < 10^{-12} (10^{-14})$
$f/{\rm TeV} >$	2.5	(8.1)	2.3	(7.4)
$\sin 2\theta <$	0.16	(0.015)	0.16	(0.016)
$ \delta <$	0.16	(0.015)	0.18	(0.018)
$\tilde{y} <$	0.16	(*)	*	(*)

Table 3: Bounds from current (future) experiments on individual LHT parameters, assuming the others fixed to the *natural* values f = 1 TeV, $\sin 2\theta = \delta = \tilde{y} = 1$. An asterisk means that the quoted limit on the branching ratio excludes any \tilde{y} value for the assumed values of the other parameters.

increasing f or decreasing $\sin 2\theta$ and/or δ (see figures 6 and 7). Finally, we must note that the limits on the corresponding tau decays $\tau \to \mu\gamma$, $e\gamma$ and $\tau \to \mu\mu\bar{\mu}$, eeē are weaker [43], typically $< 10^{-8} - 10^{-7}$. Then, they do not further restrict the order parameter f for natural values of the other heavy lepton parameters, but could eventually constrain the corresponding mixing angles and heavy lepton masses, which are in principle independent of the parameters otherwise involved in the muon to electron processes. However, present limits give no significative bound on the parameters related to the third lepton family.

Note added. During the completion of this manuscript several related papers were released. The one-loop contributions in the LHT to the tbW vertex in ref. [44] and to $Z\ell\ell'$ in ref. [45] have been calculated. In neither case has the order v^2/f^2 correction to the SM weak boson coupling to heavy right-handed fermions been included. More recently a new analysis of B decays in the this model has been carried out in ref. [46], yielding an ultraviolet finite result when this correction was taken into account following ref. [15] and in agreement with our findings.

Acknowledgments

Very useful discussions with Jorge de Blas, María José Herrero, Manuel Masip, Manuel Pérez-Victoria, Antonio Pich, Cecilia Tarantino and José Wudka are gratefully acknowledged. This work has been supported by MICINN project FPA2006-05294 and Junta de Andalucía projects FQM 101, FQM 437 and FQM03048. The work of M.D.J. has been supported by a MICINN FPU fellowship.

A. Physical fields

After the electroweak symmetry breaking (EWSB) the SM gauge boson mass eigenstates, which are the T-even, write

$$W^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (W^1 \mp i W^2), \quad \begin{pmatrix} Z \\ A \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} c_W & s_W \\ -s_W & c_W \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} W^3 \\ B \end{pmatrix}, \tag{A.1}$$

with

$$W^a = \frac{W_1^a + W_2^a}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad B = \frac{B_1 + B_2}{\sqrt{2}};$$
 (A.2)

whereas the T-odd combinations expanding the heavy sector read to order v^2/f^2 are

$$W_{H}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (W_{H}^{1} \mp iW_{H}^{2}), \quad \begin{pmatrix} Z_{H} \\ A_{H} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -x_{H} \frac{v^{2}}{f^{2}} \\ x_{H} \frac{v^{2}}{f^{2}} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} W_{H}^{3} \\ B_{H} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.3)$$

with

$$W_H^a = \frac{W_1^a - W_2^a}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad B_H = \frac{B_1 - B_2}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad x_H = \frac{5gg'}{4(5g^2 - g'^2)}.$$
 (A.4)

Their masses to order v^2/f^2 are

$$M_W = \frac{gv}{2} \left(1 - \frac{v^2}{12f^2} \right), \quad M_Z = M_W / c_W, \qquad e = gs_W = g' c_W, \quad v \simeq 246 \text{ GeV},$$
$$M_{W_H} = M_{Z_H} = gf \left(1 - \frac{v^2}{8f^2} \right), \qquad \qquad M_{A_H} = \frac{g'f}{\sqrt{5}} \left(1 - \frac{5v^2}{8f^2} \right). \tag{A.5}$$

The scalar fields must be also rotated into the physical fields [20]:

$$\pi^0 \to \pi^0 \left(1 + \frac{v^2}{12f^2} \right),\tag{A.6}$$

$$\pi^{\pm} \to \pi^{\pm} \left(1 + \frac{v^2}{12f^2} \right), \tag{A.7}$$

$$h \to h,$$
 (A.8)

$$\Phi^0 \to \Phi^0 \left(1 + \frac{v^2}{12f^2} \right),\tag{A.9}$$

$$\Phi^P \to \Phi^P + \left(\sqrt{10}\eta - \sqrt{2}\omega^0 + \Phi^P\right)\frac{v^2}{12f^2},\tag{A.10}$$

$$\Phi^{\pm} \to \Phi^{\pm} \left(1 + \frac{v^2}{24f^2} \right) \pm \mathrm{i}\omega^{\pm} \frac{v^2}{12f^2},\tag{A.11}$$

$$\Phi^{++} \to \Phi^{++}, \tag{A.12}$$

$$\eta \to \eta + \frac{5g'\eta - 4\sqrt{5}[g'(\omega^0 + \sqrt{2\Phi^P}) - 6gx_H\omega^0]}{24g'}\frac{v^2}{f^2},\tag{A.13}$$

$$\omega^{0} \to \omega^{0} + \frac{5g(\omega^{0} + 4\sqrt{2}\Phi^{P}) - 4\sqrt{5}\eta(5g + 6g'x_{H})}{120g}\frac{v^{2}}{f^{2}},$$
 (A.14)

$$\omega^{\pm} \to \omega^{\pm} \left(1 + \frac{v^2}{24f^2} \right) \pm i\Phi^{\pm} \frac{v^2}{f^2}.$$
(A.15)

For each SM left-handed lepton doublet there is an extra vector-like doublet,

$$l_{iL} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{iL} \\ \ell_{iL} \end{pmatrix}, \quad i = 1, 2, \quad l_{HR} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{HR} \\ \ell_{HR} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.16)

Then the left-handed mass eigenstates are

$$l_L = \frac{l_{1L} - l_{2L}}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad l_{HL} = \frac{l_{1L} + l_{2L}}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad l = \nu, \ell,$$
(A.17)

where we omit the flavour index. ν_L , ℓ_L are the SM (T-even) left-handed leptons, whereas ν_{HL} , ℓ_{HL} (ν_{HR} , ℓ_{HR}) are T-odd left (right) handed leptons with masses of $\mathcal{O}(f)$. The SM right-handed fermions are assumed to be singlets under the non-abelian symmetries. Heavy leptons receive their masses from the Yukawa term proportional to κ (2.19), which is in general a non-diagonal matrix in flavour space that induces flavour mixing in the T-odd sector. The misalignment between the mass matrices of the T-even (SM) and T-odd (heavy) sectors is a source of intergeneration mixing (see section 2.2). The diagonalisation of the κ matrix (see eq. (2.30)) yield the heavy lepton masses

$$m_{\ell_H^i} = \sqrt{2}\kappa_{ii}f \equiv m_{Hi}, \quad m_{\nu_H^i} = m_{Hi}\left(1 - \frac{v^2}{8f^2}\right).$$
 (A.18)

B. Feynman rules

We present below just the Feynman rules which are necessary for the calculation of the LFV processes discussed in this work. They are given in terms of generic couplings for the following general vertices involving scalars (S), fermions (F) and/or gauge bosons (V):

$$[V_{\mu}FF] = ie\gamma^{\mu}(g_L P_L + g_R P_R), \qquad (B.1)$$

$$[SFF] = ie(c_L P_L + c_R P_R), \tag{B.2}$$

$$[SV_{\mu}V_{\nu}] = ieKg^{\mu\nu},\tag{B.3}$$

$$[V_{\mu}S(p_1)S(p_2)] = ieG(p_1 - p_2)^{\mu}, \qquad (B.4)$$

$$\left[V_{\mu}(p_1)V_{\nu}(p_2)V_{\rho}(p_3)\right] = ieJ\left[g^{\mu\nu}(p_2 - p_1)^{\rho} + g^{\nu\rho}(p_3 - p_2)^{\mu} + g^{\mu\rho}(p_1 - p_3)^{\nu}\right], \quad (B.5)$$

where all momenta are assumed incoming. The conjugate vertices are obtained replacing:

$$g_{L,R} \leftrightarrow g_{L,R}^*, \quad c_{L,R} \leftrightarrow c_{R,L}^*, \quad K \leftrightarrow K^*, \quad G \leftrightarrow G^*, \quad J \leftrightarrow J^*.$$
 (B.6)

B.1 SM with massive neutrinos

For comparison we first give the rules for the SM with light massive neutrinos. The sign conventions for the covariant derivatives are those in ref. [22].

VFF	$\gamma \bar{f}^i f^j$	$Z\bar{f}^i f^j$	$W^+ \bar{\nu}^i \ell^j$	$W^- \bar{\ell}^j \nu^i$
g_L	$-Q_f \delta_{ij}$	$Z_L^f \delta_{ij}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}s_W}V_{\text{PMNS}}^{ji*}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}s_W}V_{\text{PMNS}}^{ji}$
g_R	$-Q_f \delta_{ij}$	$Z_R^f \delta_{ij}$	0	0

where $Z_{L,R}^f = (v_f \pm a_f)/2s_W c_W$ with $v_f = T_3^{f_L} - 2Q_f s_W^2$ and $a_f = T_3^{f_L}$.

SFF	$\phi^+ ar{ u}^i \ell^j$			
c_L	$+\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}s_W}\frac{r}{N}$	$\frac{n_{\nu^i}}{M_W} V_{\rm PMNS}^{ji*}$		
c_R	$-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}s_W}\frac{m_{\ell j}}{M_W}V_{\rm PMNS}^{ji*}$			
SVV	$\phi^{\pm}W^{\mp}\gamma$	$\phi^{\pm}W^{\mp}Z$		
K	$-M_W$	$-M_W s_W/c_W$		

VSS	$\gamma \phi^\pm \phi^\mp$	$Z\phi^{\pm}\phi^{\mp}$	
G		$\pm \frac{c_W^2 - s_W^2}{2s_W c_W}$	
VVV $\gamma W^+ W$		r_	ZW^+W^-
J	-1		c_W/s_W

The fields ϕ^{\pm} are the would-be Goldstone bosons eaten by the gauge bosons fields W^{\pm} after the EWSB.

B.2 LHT model

The sign conventions are chosen to be compatible with those employed for the SM (which coincide with those in [26] up to a sign in the definition of the abelian gauge couplings in the covariant derivative in eq. (2.14)). In particular, these Feynman rules include the $\mathcal{O}(v^2/f^2)$ contribution to the $Z\bar{\nu}_H^i\nu_H^j$ vertex missed in the literature.

VFF	$\gamma \bar{f}^i_H f^j_H$	$Z ar{ u}_{H}^{i} u_{H}^{j}$		$Z ar{\ell}^i_H \ell^j_H$	
g_L	$-Q_f \delta_{ij}$	$\frac{1}{2s_W c_W} \delta_i$	$\frac{j}{2s_W}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{c_W}}(-1+2s_W^2)\delta$	ij
g_R	$-Q_f \delta_{ij}$	$\frac{1}{2s_W c_W} \left(1 - \frac{u}{4}\right)$	$\left(\frac{f^2}{f^2}\right)\delta_{ij} \left(\frac{1}{2s_W}\right)$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{c_W}}(-1+2s_W^2)\delta$	ij
VFF		$A_H \overline{\ell}_H^i \ell^j$	Z_H	$\bar{\ell}_{H}^{i}\ell^{j}$	$W_H^+ \bar{\nu}_H^i \ell^j$
g_L	$\left(\frac{1}{10c_W}\right)$	$-\frac{x_H}{2s_W}\frac{v^2}{f^2}\right)V_{H\ell}^{ij}$	$-\left(\frac{1}{2s_W}+\frac{1}{2s_W}+\frac{1}{2s_W}\right)$	$\frac{x_H}{10c_W} \frac{v^2}{f^2} V_{H\ell}^{ij}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}s_W}V^{ij}_{H\ell}$
g_R		0		0	0
SFF		$\eta ar{\ell}^i_H \ell^j$			$\omega^0 ar{\ell}_H^i \ell^j$
c_L	$\frac{\mathrm{i}}{10c_W} \frac{m_{\ell_1^2}}{M_A}$	$\frac{H}{H} \left[1 - \frac{v^2}{f^2} \left(\frac{5}{4} + x \right) \right]$	$\left[C_H \frac{s_W}{c_W} \right] V_{H\ell}^{ij}$	$\frac{\mathrm{i}}{2s_W} \frac{m_{\ell_H^i}}{M_{Z_H}} \left[1 + \right]$	$-\frac{v^2}{f^2}\left(-\frac{1}{4}+x_H\frac{c_W}{s_W}\right) V_{H\ell}^{ij}$
c_R		$-\frac{1}{10c_W}\frac{m_{\ell^i}}{M_{A_H}}V_I^*$	ij Hl		$\frac{1}{2s_W} \frac{m_{\ell^i}}{M_{Z_H}} V_{H\ell}^{ij}$
SFF	$\omega^+ i$	$\bar{\nu}^i_H \ell^j$			
c_L	$-\frac{\mathrm{i}}{\sqrt{2}s_W}$	$\frac{m_{\nu_H^i}}{M_{W_H}} V_{H\ell}^{ij}$			
c_R	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}s_W}N$	$\frac{m_{\ell^i}}{I_{W_H}} V_{H\ell}^{ij}$			
SVV	$\omega^{\pm} W_{H}^{\mp} \gamma$	$\omega^{\pm}W_{I}$	$_{H}^{\mp}Z$		
K	$\pm i M_{W_H}$	$= \mp i M_{W_H} \frac{c_W}{s_W} \left(1 \right)$	$\left(-\frac{v^2}{4f^2c_W^2}\right)$		
VSS	$\gamma \omega^{\pm} \omega^{\mp}$	$Z\omega^{\pm}\omega^{\mp}$			
G		$\pm \frac{c_W}{s_W} \left(1 - \frac{v^2}{8f^2c} \right)$	$\left(\frac{2}{W}\right)$		
VVV J	$\gamma W_H^+ W_H$ -1	$ \begin{array}{c c} \hline & ZW_H^+W_H^- \\ \hline & c_W/s_W \end{array} $			
L	1	<u> </u>			



Figure 9: Generic one-loop diagram with N legs.

The fields ω^{\pm} , ω^0 and η are the Goldstone bosons of the $[\mathrm{SU}(2) \times \mathrm{U}(1)]_1 \times [\mathrm{SU}(2) \times \mathrm{U}(1)]_2$ breaking into its diagonal subgroup. They are eaten by the heavy gauge bosons W_H^{\pm} , Z_H and A_H , respectively. (Actually these Goldstone bosons mix with an additional physical Higgs triplet Φ at order v^2/f^2 and it is this linear combination of fields that is eaten.) In principle, also the scalar triplet Φ contributes to the processes considered here. The corresponding diagrams can be obtained replacing W_H^{\pm} by Φ^{\pm} and Z_H, A_H by Φ^0 and Φ_P^0 . The Feynman rules for the vertices containing Φ , neglecting the masses of the SM fermions, involve couplings of $\mathcal{O}(v^2/f^2)$. As each diagram contains at least two such vertices, if any, they are suppressed by a factor of $\mathcal{O}(v^4/f^4)$ [26].

C. Loop integrals

Consider the generic one-loop diagram with N legs in figure 9, where

$$k_1 = p_1, \quad k_2 = p_1 + p_2, \quad \dots \quad k_{N-1} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} p_i.$$
 (C.1)

This diagram involves integrals of the type

$$\frac{\mathrm{i}}{16\pi^2} T^N_{\mu_1\dots\mu_P} \equiv \mu^{4-D} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^D q}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{q_{\mu_1}\cdots q_{\mu_P}}{(q^2 - m_0^2)[(q+k_1)^2 - m_1^2]\cdots[(q+k_{N-1})^2 - m_{N-1}^2]}.$$
 (C.2)

These integrals are symmetric under permutation of the Lorentz indices. The integration is performed in dimensional regularization. The mass scale μ keeps track of the correct dimension of the integral in $D = 4 - \epsilon$ spacetime dimensions. $P \leq N$ is the number of q's in the numerator and determines the tensor structure of the integral (scalar for P = 0, vector for P = 1, etc.) The notation is A for T^1 , B for T^2 , etc. and the scalar integrals are A_0 , B_0 , etc. The tensor integrals can be decomposed into a linear combination of Lorentz covariant tensors constructed from $g_{\mu\nu}$ and a linearly independent set of the momenta [47]. The choice of the basis is not unique. Here we choose $g_{\mu\nu}$ and the momenta k_i , which are sums of the external momenta p_i [22]. In this basis, the tensor-coefficient functions are



Figure 10: Generic one-loop diagram with two legs.

totally symmetric in their indices. For this work, we need the following decompositions:

$$B_{\mu} = k_{1\mu}B_1, \qquad (C.3)$$

$$C_{\mu} = k_{1\mu}C_1 + k_{2\mu}C_2 \,, \tag{C.4}$$

$$C_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}C_{00} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} k_{i\mu}k_{j\nu}C_{ij}, \qquad (C.5)$$

$$D_{\mu} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} k_{i\mu} D_{i} , \qquad (C.6)$$

$$D_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}D_{00} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} k_{i\mu}k_{j\nu}D_{ij} . \qquad (C.7)$$

These functions have been calculated for the argument configuration required by the processes under study, obtaining the following results.

C.1 Two-point functions

Consider now the diagram with two legs in figure 10:

$$\frac{\mathrm{i}}{16\pi^2} \{B_0, B^{\mu}\} (\mathrm{args}) = \mu^{4-D} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^D q}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{\{1, q^{\mu}\}}{\left(q^2 - m_0^2\right) \left[(q+p)^2 - m_1^2\right]}, \quad (C.8)$$

where $k_1 = p$. The corresponding tensor coefficients are functions of the invariant quantities $(args) = (p^2, m_0^2, m_1^2)$. The functions $B \equiv B(0; M_1^2, M_2^2)$ and $\overline{B} \equiv B(0; M_2^2, M_1^2)$ read

$$B_{0} = \overline{B}_{0} = \Delta_{\epsilon} + 1 - \frac{M_{1}^{2} \ln \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{\mu^{2}} - M_{2}^{2} \ln \frac{M_{2}^{2}}{\mu^{2}}}{M_{1}^{2} - M_{2}^{2}}, \qquad (C.9)$$

$$B_{1} = -\frac{\Delta_{\epsilon}}{\mu^{2}} + \frac{4M_{1}^{2}M_{2}^{2} - 3M_{1}^{4} - M_{2}^{4} + 2M_{1}^{4} \ln \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{\mu^{2}} + 2M_{2}^{2}(M_{2}^{2} - 2M_{1}^{2}) \ln \frac{M_{2}^{2}}{\mu^{2}}}{\mu^{2}}$$

$$B_1 = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{4(M_1^2 - M_2^2)^2}{4(M_1^2 - M_2^2)^2} = -\overline{B}_0 - \overline{B}_1,$$
(C.10)

with $\Delta_{\epsilon} \equiv \frac{2}{\epsilon} - \gamma + \ln 4\pi$. These functions are ultraviolet divergent in D = 4 dimensions.



Figure 11: Generic one-loop diagram with three legs.

C.2 Three-point functions

Consider now the diagram with three legs in figure 11:

$$\frac{\mathrm{i}}{16\pi^2} \{ C_0, \ C^{\mu}, \ C^{\mu\nu} \} (\mathrm{args}) = \mu^{4-D} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^D q}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{\{1, \ q^{\mu}, \ q^{\mu}q^{\nu}\}}{\left(q^2 - m_0^2\right) \left[(q + p_1)^2 - m_1^2\right] \left[(q + p_2)^2 - m_2^2\right]}, (C.11)$$

where we have chosen the extenal momenta so that $k_1 = p_1$, $k_2 = p_2$. The corresponding tensor coefficients depend on the invariant quantities (args) = $(p_1^2, Q^2, p_2^2; m_0^2, m_1^2, m_2^2)$, with $Q^2 \equiv (p_2 - p_1)^2$. The functions $C \equiv C(0, Q^2, 0; M_1^2, M_2^2, M_2^2)$ with $x \equiv M_2^2/M_1^2$ read

$$C_{0} = \frac{1}{M_{1}^{2}} \left[\frac{1 - x + \ln x}{(1 - x)^{2}} + \frac{Q^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{-2 - 3x + 6x^{2} - x^{3} - 6x \ln x}{12x(1 - x)^{4}} \right] + \mathcal{O}(Q^{4}), \quad (C.12)$$

$$C_1 = C_2 = \frac{1}{M_1^2} \frac{-3 + 4x - x^2 - 2\ln x}{4(1-x)^3} + \mathcal{O}(Q^2),$$
(C.13)

$$C_{11} = C_{22} = 2 \ C_{12} = \frac{1}{M_1^2} \frac{11 - 18x + 9x^2 - 2x^3 + 6\ln x}{18(1 - x)^4} + \mathcal{O}(Q^2), \tag{C.14}$$

$$C_{00} = -\frac{1}{2}B_1 - \frac{Q^2}{M_1^2} \frac{11 - 18x + 9x^2 - 2x^3 + 6\ln x}{72(1-x)^4} + \mathcal{O}(Q^4). \quad (C.15)$$

Or else, defining $\overline{C} \equiv C(0, Q^2, 0; M_2^2, M_1^2, M_1^2)$,

$$\overline{C}_{0} = \frac{1}{M_{1}^{2}} \left[\frac{-1 + x - x \ln x}{(1 - x)^{2}} + \frac{Q^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{-1 + 6x - 3x^{2} - 2x^{3} + 6x^{2} \ln x}{12(1 - x)^{4}} \right] + \mathcal{O}(Q^{4}), \quad (C.16)$$

$$\overline{C}_1 = \overline{C}_2 = \frac{1}{M_1^2} \frac{1 - 4x + 3x^2 - 2x^2 \ln x}{4(1 - x)^3},$$
(C.17)

$$\overline{C}_{11} = \overline{C}_{22} = 2 \ \overline{C}_{12} = \frac{1}{M_1^2} \frac{-2 + 9x - 18x^2 + 11x^3 - 6x^3 \ln x}{18(1-x)^4},$$
(C.18)

$$\overline{C}_{00} = -\frac{1}{2}\overline{B}_1 - \frac{Q^2}{M_1^2} \frac{-2 + 9x - 18x^2 + 11x^3 - 6x^3 \ln x}{72(1-x)^4} + \mathcal{O}(Q^4).$$
(C.19)

Note that C_{00} and \overline{C}_{00} are ultraviolet divergent in D = 4 dimensions. In the limit $Q^2 = 0$ the following useful relations among two- and three-point functions hold:

$$\overline{B}_1 + 2\overline{C}_{00} = 0, \tag{C.20}$$

$$-\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2}\overline{B}_1 + C_{00} - \frac{x}{2}M_1^2C_0 = 0, \qquad (C.21)$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} + \overline{B}_1 + 6\overline{C}_{00} - xM_1^2\overline{C}_0 = \Delta_\epsilon - \ln\frac{M_1^2}{\mu^2}.$$
 (C.22)

C.3 Four-point functions

The ones we need are all ultraviolet finite:

$$\frac{1}{16\pi^2} \{ D_0, \ D^{\mu}, \ D^{\mu\nu} \} (\text{args}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 q}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{\{1, \ q^{\mu}, \ q^{\mu}q^{\nu}\}}{\left(q^2 - m_0^2\right) \left[(q + k_1)^2 - m_1^2\right] \left[(q + k_2)^2 - m_2^2\right] \left[(q + k_3)^2 - m_3^2\right]}, (C.23)$$

with $k_j = \sum_{i=1}^{j} p_i$ and (args) = $(p_1^2, p_2^2, p_3^2, p_4^2, (p_1 + p_2)^2, (p_2 + p_3)^2; m_0^2, m_1^2, m_2^2, m_3^2)$. In the limit of zero external momenta, only the following integrals are relevant:

$$\frac{\mathrm{i}}{16\pi^2} D_0 = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 q}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\left(q^2 - m_0^2\right) \left(q^2 - m_1^2\right) \left(q^2 - m_2^2\right) \left(q^2 - m_3^2\right)},\tag{C.24}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{i}}{16\pi^2} D_{00} = \frac{1}{4} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 q}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{q^2}{\left(q^2 - m_0^2\right) \left(q^2 - m_1^2\right) \left(q^2 - m_2^2\right) \left(q^2 - m_3^2\right)}.$$
 (C.25)

In terms of the mass ratios $x=m_1^2/m_0^2,\,y=m_2^2/m_0^2,\,z=m_3^2/m_0^2$ the integrals above can be written as:

$$d_0(x, y, z) \equiv m_0^4 D_0 = \left[\frac{x \ln x}{(1 - x)(x - y)(x - z)} - \frac{y \ln y}{(1 - y)(x - y)(y - z)} + \frac{z \ln z}{(1 - z)(x - z)(y - z)} \right],$$
(C.26)

$$\widetilde{d}_{0}(x,y,z) \equiv 4m_{0}^{2}D_{00} = \left[\frac{x^{2}\ln x}{(1-x)(x-y)(x-z)} - \frac{y^{2}\ln y}{(1-y)(x-y)(y-z)} + \frac{z^{2}\ln z}{(1-z)(x-z)(y-z)}\right].$$
(C.27)

For two equal masses $(m_0 = m_3)$ we get

$$d_0(x,y) = -\left[\frac{x\ln x}{(1-x)^2(x-y)} - \frac{y\ln y}{(1-y)^2(x-y)} + \frac{1}{(1-x)(1-y)}\right], \quad (C.28)$$

$$\widetilde{d}_0(x,y) = -\left[\frac{x^2 \ln x}{(1-x)^2(x-y)} - \frac{y^2 \ln y}{(1-y)^2(x-y)} + \frac{1}{(1-x)(1-y)}\right].$$
(C.29)

References

- N. Arkani-Hamed, A.G. Cohen and H. Georgi, (De)constructing dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86 (2001) 4757 [hep-th/0104005];
 N. Arkani-Hamed, A.G. Cohen, E. Katz and A.E. Nelson, The littlest Higgs, JHEP 07 (2002) 034 [hep-ph/0206021].
- [2] For comprehensive reviews on LH models see M. Schmaltz and D. Tucker-Smith, Little Higgs review, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 55 (2005) 229 [hep-ph/0502182];
 T. Han, H.E. Logan and L.-T. Wang, Smoking-gun signatures of little Higgs models, JHEP 01 (2006) 099 [hep-ph/0506313];
 M. Perelstein, Little Higgs models and their phenomenology, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 58 (2007) 247 [hep-ph/0512128].
- [3] J. Wess and J. Bagger, Supersymmetry and supergravity, Princeton university press, Princeton U.S.A. (1992);
 H.P. Nilles, Supersymmetry, supergravity and particle physics, Phys. Rept. 110 (1984) 1;
 H.E. Haber and G.L. Kane, The search for supersymmetry: probing physics beyond the standard model, Phys. Rept. 117 (1985) 75.
- [4] ATLAS collaboration, ATLAS Physics TDR Vol. II, CERN/LHCC/99-15 (1999); CMS collaboration, G.L. Bayatian et al., CMS Physics TDR Vol. II, J. Phys. G 34 (2007) 995 [CERN/LHCC/2006-021] (2006); F. del Aguila et al., Collider aspects of flavour physics at high Q, Eur. Phys. J. C 57 (2008) 183 [arXiv:0801.1800].
- [5] M. Raidal et al., Flavour physics of leptons and dipole moments, Eur. Phys. J. C 57 (2008) 13 [arXiv:0801.1826].
- [6] S. Dimopoulos, S. Raby and F. Wilczek, Supersymmetry and the scale of unification, Phys. Rev. D 24 (1981) 1681;
 W.J. Marciano and G. Senjanović, Predictions of supersymmetric grand unified theories, Phys. Rev. D 25 (1982) 3092;
 L.E. Ibáñez and G.G. Ross, Low-energy predictions in supersymmetric grand unified theories, Phys. Lett. B 105 (1981) 439;
 For a discussion of the uncertainties and further references see P. Langacker and N. Polonsky, Uncertainties in coupling constant unification, Phys. Rev. D 47 (1993) 4028
 [hep-ph/9210235].
- [7] L. Álvarez-Gaumé, J. Polchinski and M.B. Wise, Minimal low-energy supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 221 (1983) 495;
 L.E. Ibáñez and C. Lopez, N = 1 supergravity, the weak scale and the low-energy particle spectrum, Nucl. Phys. B 233 (1984) 511.
- [8] S. Dimopoulos and H. Georgi, Softly broken supersymmetry and SU(5), Nucl. Phys. B 193 (1981) 150.
- [9] S. Dimopoulos and J.R. Ellis, Challenges for extended technicolor theories, Nucl. Phys. B 182 (1982) 505.
- [10] S.L. Glashow, J. Iliopoulos and L. Maiani, Weak interactions with lepton-hadron symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 2 (1970) 1285;
 S.L. Glashow and S. Weinberg, Natural conservation laws for neutral currents, Phys. Rev. D 15 (1977) 1958.

- [11] M. Blanke and A.J. Buras, A guide to flavour changing neutral currents in the littlest Higgs model with T-parity, Acta Phys. Polon. B38 (2007) 2923 [hep-ph/0703117];
 C. Tarantino, Lepton flavour violating decays in the littlest Higgs model with T-parity, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 110 (2008) 072043 [arXiv:0709.3944] and references therein.
- [12] S.R. Choudhury, A.S. Cornell, A. Deandrea, N. Gaur and A. Goyal, Lepton flavour violation in the little Higgs model, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 055011 [hep-ph/0612327].
- [13] M. Blanke, A.J. Buras, B. Duling, A. Poschenrieder and C. Tarantino, Charged lepton flavour violation and (g - 2)_μ in the littlest Higgs model with T-parity: a clear distinction from supersymmetry, JHEP 05 (2007) 013 [hep-ph/0702136].
- [14] H.-C. Cheng and I. Low, TeV symmetry and the little hierarchy problem, JHEP 09 (2003) 051 [hep-ph/0308199].
- [15] T. Goto, Y. Okada and Y. Yamamoto, Ultraviolet divergences of flavor changing amplitudes in the littlest Higgs model with T-parity, Phys. Lett. B 670 (2009) 378 [arXiv:0809.4753].
- [16] C.G. Callan Jr., S.R. Coleman, J. Wess and B. Zumino, Structure of phenomenological Lagrangians. 2, Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2247.
- [17] H. Georgi, Weak interactions and modern particle theory, Benjamin/Cummings, Menlo Park U.S.A. (1984).
- [18] MECO collaboration, M. Hebert, Searching for muon to electron conversion below the 10⁻¹⁶ level, Nucl. Phys. A 721 (2003) 461.
- [19] C. Csáki, J. Hubisz, G.D. Kribs, P. Meade and J. Terning, Big corrections from a little Higgs, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 115002 [hep-ph/0211124]; Variations of little Higgs models and their electroweak constraints, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 035009 [hep-ph/0303236]; T. Han, H.E. Logan, B. McElrath and L.-T. Wang, Phenomenology of the little Higgs model, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 095004 [hep-ph/0301040]; W. Kilian and J. Reuter, The low-energy structure of little Higgs models, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 015004 [hep-ph/0311095]; M.-C. Chen, Models of little Higgs and electroweak precision tests, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 21 (2006) 621 [hep-ph/0601126].
- [20] J. Hubisz, P. Meade, A. Noble and M. Perelstein, Electroweak precision constraints on the littlest Higgs model with T parity, JHEP 01 (2006) 135 [hep-ph/0506042].
- [21] A. Birkedal, A. Noble, M. Perelstein and A. Spray, Little Higgs dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 035002 [hep-ph/0603077].
- [22] A. Denner, Techniques for calculation of electroweak radiative corrections at the one loop level and results for W physics at LEP-200, Fortschr. Phys. 41 (1993) 307 [arXiv:0709.1075].
- [23] H.-C. Cheng and I. Low, Little hierarchy, little Higgses and a little symmetry, JHEP 08 (2004) 061 [hep-ph/0405243].
- [24] I. Low, T parity and the littlest Higgs, JHEP 10 (2004) 067 [hep-ph/0409025].
- [25] J. Hubisz and P. Meade, Phenomenology of the littlest Higgs with T-parity, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 035016 [hep-ph/0411264].
- [26] M. Blanke et al., Rare and CP-violating K and B decays in the littlest Higgs model with T-parity, JHEP 01 (2007) 066 [hep-ph/0610298].

- [27] C.-R. Chen, K. Tobe and C.P. Yuan, Higgs boson production and decay in little Higgs models with T-parity, Phys. Lett. B 640 (2006) 263 [hep-ph/0602211].
- [28] J. Hubisz, S.J. Lee and G. Paz, The flavor of a little Higgs with T-parity, JHEP 06 (2006) 041 [hep-ph/0512169].
- [29] F. del Aguila and M.J. Bowick, Suppression of lepton number violation mediated by $\Delta I = 0$ mass fermions, Phys. Lett. **B** 119 (1982) 144.
- [30] F. del Aguila, J. de Blas and M. Pérez-Victoria, Effects of new leptons in electroweak precision data, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 013010 [arXiv:0803.4008].
- [31] F. del Aguila and J.A. Aguilar-Saavedra, Distinguishing seesaw models at LHC with multi-lepton signals, arXiv:0808.2468.
- [32] J. Hisano, T. Moroi, K. Tobe and M. Yamaguchi, Lepton-flavor violation via right-handed neutrino Yukawa couplings in supersymmetric standard model, Phys. Rev. D 53 (1996) 2442 [hep-ph/9510309].
- [33] J.I. Illana and T. Riemann, Charged lepton flavour violation from massive neutrinos in Z decays, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 053004 [hep-ph/0010193].
- [34] J.I. Illana and M. Masip, Lepton flavor violation in Z and lepton decays in supersymmetric models, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 035004 [hep-ph/0207328].
- [35] E. Arganda and M.J. Herrero, Testing supersymmetry with lepton flavor violating τ and μ decays, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 055003 [hep-ph/0510405].
- [36] T.P. Cheng and L.F. Li, Gauge theory of elementary particle physics, Oxford Science Publications, Clarendon, Oxford U.K. (1984).
- [37] L. Lavoura, General formulae for $f_1 \rightarrow f_2 \gamma$, Eur. Phys. J. C 29 (2003) 191 [hep-ph/0302221].
- [38] MEGA collaboration, M.L. Brooks et al., New limit for the family-number non-conserving decay $\mu^+ \to e^{\pm}\gamma$, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 (1999) 1521 [hep-ex/9905013].
- [39] SINDRUM collaboration, U. Bellgardt et al., Search for the decay $\mu^+ \rightarrow e^+e^+e^-$, Nucl. Phys. **B 299** (1988) 1.
- [40] MEG collaboration, S. Ritt, Status of the MEG expriment μ → eγ, Nucl. Phys. 162 (Proc. Suppl.) (2006) 279;
 T. Mori, MEG: the experiment to search for μ → eγ, Nucl. Phys. 169 (Proc. Suppl.) (2007) 166.
- [41] A. Sirlin, Radiative corrections in the SU(2)_L × U(1) theory: a simple renormalization framework, Phys. Rev. D 22 (1980) 971;
 For a review and further references see W.F.L. Hollik, Radiative corrections in the standard model and their role for precision tests of the electroweak theory, Fortschr. Phys. 38 (1990) 165.
- [42] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, C. Amsler et al., Review of particle physics, Phys. Lett. B 667 (2008) 1 and references therein.
- [43] S. Banerjee, Searches for lepton flavor violating decays τ[±] → ℓ[±]γ, τ[±] → ℓ[±]P0 (where l⁻ = e⁻, μ⁻ and P0 = π0, η, η') at B-factories: status and combinations, Nucl. Phys. 169 (Proc. Suppl.) (2007) 199 [hep-ex/0702017];

BELLE collaboration, Y. Miyazaki et al., Search for lepton flavor violating τ decays into three leptons, Phys. Lett. **B 660** (2008) 154 [arXiv:0711.2189]; BABAR collaboration, B. Aubert et al., Improved limits on the lepton-flavor violating decays $\tau^- \rightarrow \ell^- \ell^+ \ell^-$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 251803 [arXiv:0708.3650].

- [44] F. Penunuri and F. Larios, *The tbW vertex in the littlest Higgs model with T-parity*, arXiv:0810.4545.
- [45] C.-X. Yue, J.-Y. Liu and S.-H. Zhu, Leptonic Z decays in the littlest Higgs model with T-parity, arXiv:0811.0708.
- [46] W. Altmannshofer et al., Symmetries and asymmetries of $B \to K^* \mu^+ \mu^-$ decays in the standard model and beyond, JHEP **01** (2009) 019 [arXiv:0811.1214].
- [47] G. Passarino and M.J.G. Veltman, One loop corrections for e^+e^- annihilation into $\mu^+\mu^-$ in the Weinberg model, Nucl. Phys. B 160 (1979) 151.